Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

7-18-2023 11:30 AM

Cerebral hyperemia is not a sole modulator of postexercise executive function benefit: evidence from hypercapnia and passive exercise

Mustafa Shirzad, Western University

Supervisor: Heath, Matthew, *The University of Western Ontario* A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Science degree in Kinesiology © Mustafa Shirzad 2023

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

🗳 Part of the Behavior and Behavior Mechanisms Commons, and the Cognitive Science Commons

Recommended Citation

Shirzad, Mustafa, "Cerebral hyperemia is not a sole modulator of postexercise executive function benefit: evidence from hypercapnia and passive exercise" (2023). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 9415.

https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/9415

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

Abstract

A single bout of exercise improves executive function (EF); however, the physiological mechanism(s) contributing to this benefit are unclear. One candidate mechanism for the benefit is an exercised-mediated increase in cerebral blood flow (CBF) that improves neural efficiency. In my thesis, I conducted two experiments to assess the relationship between an increase in CBF and EF. In Experiment 1, I examined passive exercise, and in Experiment 2, I examined a 2.5% hypercapnic environment given that both interventions increase CBF independent of the metabolic demands of volitional muscle activity. Experiment 1 indicated that passive exercise increased CBF and was associated with a postexercise EF benefit. In Experiment 2, result showed that a hypercapnic environment increase in CBF does not impart a unitary EF benefit.

Keywords

Antisaccades

Passive Cycling

Carbon dioxide

Cerebral blood flow

Summary for Lay Audience

Executive function represents a set of mental processes that supports activities of daily living. Notably, a single bout of exercise improves executive function, and this benefit has been linked to an exercise-based increase in blood flow to the brain. To better evaluate the relationship between brain blood flow and executive function, my thesis examined whether an increase in cerebral blood flow independent of the metabolic demands of exercise improves executive function. In Experiment 1, I examined brain blood flow and executive function in a passive exercise condition; that is, exercise wherein participants'' limbs were moved via an external force (i.e., a mechanically driven stationary bike). In Experiment 2, participants inhaled a higher-than-atmospheric concentration of carbon dioxide given that it provides a well-defined increase in brain blood flow and provided a post-intervention executive function benefit, whereas results from Experiment 2 found that a higher-than-atmospheric concentration of carbon dioxide increased brain blood flow but did not benefit executive function. Accordingly, an increase in brain blood flow may only represent one of several mechanisms contributing to a postexercise executive function benefit.

Co-Authorship Statement

The work in this master's thesis was conducted by the author, under the supervision of Dr. Matthew Heath. With the counsel of Dr. Matthew Heath, I created and designed the experiments, recruited participants, collected, analyzed and interpreted data, and composed the final manuscripts, for which I serve as first author. For Chapter Two, I received assistance from fellow graduate students (James Van Riesen, Benjamin Tari and Connor Dalton) with participant recruitment, data collection and interpretation. For the manuscript, Benjamin Tari, Connor Dalton, James Van Riesen, Michael Marsala and Dr. Matthew Heath served as co-authors for the work which is published in the journal Psychophysiology (Shirzad et al., 2022). For Chapter Three, graduate students James Van Riesen and Nikan Behboodpour assisted with participant recruitment, data collection and interpretation. For the manuscript, James Van Riesen, Nikan Behboodpour and Dr. Matthew Heath served as coauthors (manuscript under review).

Acknowledgments

I would first like to acknowledge my supervisor Dr. Matthew Heath for his support and guidance throughout my master's degree. Thank you for your invaluable insight and advice on challenges I faced along my academic journey. I would like to thank all those who participated in my studies, for their patience and their time.

I would also like to thank my lab mates, who have become some of my dearest friends, the journey would not have been the same without you. I wish you all the very best in your future endeavors.

To my family and loved ones, thank you for your encouragement, guidance and continued support. You all not only made this journey possible, but you also made the experience a cherished memory.

Table of Contents

Abstractii
Keywordsiii
Summary for Lay Audienceiv
Co-Authorship Statementv
Acknowledgmentsvi
Table of Contents
List of Tables x
List of Figures xi
List of Appendices xiv
Chapter 11
1 Literature Review
1.1 Executive Function
1.2 Exercise and Executive Function
1.3 Candidate mechanisms for an exercise-induced improvement in executive function
1.4 Passive exercise, hypercapnia, and their effects on cerebral blood flow and executive function
1.4.1 Passive Exercise
1.4.2 Hypercapnia
1.5 Research PredictionsError! Bookmark not defined.
References
Chapter 2
2 Introduction »
2.1 Methods
2.1.1 Participants

	2.2	Appar	atus and procedure	25	
	2.3	Pre-in	vestigation procedural validation	26	
		2.3.1	EMG data collection	26	
		2.3.2	Ventilatory and gas exchange data collection	28	
	2.4	Main I	Experiment	29	
		2.4.1	TCD data collection	30	
		2.4.2	Executive function assessment	30	
		2.4.3	Data reduction	31	
		2.4.4	Dependent variables and statistical analyses	32	
	2.5	Result	s	32	
		2.5.1	Heart rate and blood pressure	32	
		2.5.2	TCD blood flow velocity through the MCA	33	
		2.5.4	Correlation of steady-state BV and antisaccade RT in active and passive exercise conditions	e 36	
2.6 Discussion				36	
		2.6.1	The metabolic demands of active exercise increase CBF and decrease antisaccade RTs	37	
		2.6.2	Passive exercise increases CBF and decreases antisaccade RTs independent of task- based ventilatory and metabolic demands	38	
	2.7 Study limitations			40	
	Ref	erences		42	
Chapter 3					
3	Intr	oductio	n	51	
	3.1	Metho	ds	54	
		3.1.1	Participants	54	
		3.1.2	Procedure and Apparatus	55	
		3.1.3	Cerebral hemodynamics	56	

	3.1.4	Cardiovascular variables	. 57		
	3.1.5	Oculomotor executive function	. 57		
	3.1.6	Data reduction and dependent variables	. 58		
3.2	Result	s	. 59		
	3.2.1	Ventilatory variables	. 59		
	3.2.2	Hemodynamic variables	. 61		
	3.2.3	Executive Function	. 62		
	3.2.4	Relationship between MCAv and antisaccade RT difference scores	. 64		
3.3	Discus	sion	. 64		
	3.3.1	Ventilation and cerebral hemodynamic changes in response to a 2.5% hypercapnic environment	. 64		
	3.3.2	Concurrent and post-intervention EF in a 2.5% hypercapnic environmer	1t . 65		
	3.3.3	Limitations and Future directions	. 66		
3.4	Conclu	usion	. 67		
Refe	erences		. 68		
Chapte	er 4		. 75		
4 Gen	eral Co	onclusion	. 75		
4.1	Future	Directions	76		
Appendices77					
Curriculum Vitae					

List of Tables

List of Figures

xii

List of Appendices

Appendix A: Approval notice from the Office of Research Ethics, The University of Western
Ontario
Appendix A: Approval notice from the Office of Research Ethics, The University of Western
Ontario

Chapter 1

1 Literature Review

The goal of my thesis was to examine the relationship between an exercisemediated increase in cerebral blood flow (CBF) and an executive function (EF) improvement. To accomplish this, I employed two separate manipulations in independent experiments. In Experiment 1, I employed a passive exercise intervention (i.e., limb movement independent of volitional muscle activation via a motorized cycle ergometer), whereas in Experiment 2, I employed a hypercapnic intervention (i.e., higher-thanatmospheric concentration of CO₂). Notably, both manipulations have been shown to increase CBF independent of the metabolic demands of "active" exercise; however, it is unknown as to whether each imparts an EF benefit. In developing my thesis, the below Literature Review outlines: (1) the components and neural correlates of EF, (2) the relationship between exercise and EF, 3) the physiological mechanism(s) theorized to contribute to a postexercise EF improvement, and (4) the physiological mechanism(s) and psychological adaptations to passive exercise and hypercapnia. Following the Literature Review, my thesis presents Experiment 1 and 2 in the form of separate manuscripts (e.g., Chapters 2 and 3).

1.1 Executive Function

Executive function (EF) refers to the top-down cognitive processes utilized to adapt and navigate a dynamic or unfamiliar environment. EF is composed of three core components: (1) inhibitory control (2) working memory, and (3) cognitive flexibility (Miyake et al., 2000; Diamond, 2013). An individual may rely on one or more components of EF to successfully complete tasks of daily living. An example of a common task requiring EF is navigating a motor vehicle through a four-way stop. Successful navigation requires appropriately yielding to pedestrians and motor vehicles (i.e., inhibitory control) and proceeding through the intersection in the appropriate order in which the vehicles arrived (i.e., working memory). As well, the multi-level decision making requires effective task-switching (i.e., cognitive flexibility). A combination of neuroimaging and lesion studies have demonstrated that the prefrontal cortex (PFC) is the main cortical region supporting EF. In particular, the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC), anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) and orbitofrontal cortex (OFC) have been shown to play a primary role in EF (Royall et al., 2002).

The DLPFC facilitates advanced cognitive processes, such as planning, organizing, monitoring oneself, shifting between tasks, inhibitory control and working memory. Inhibitory control entails overriding an internal predisposition or external temptations to focus on more appropriate or necessary actions (Diamond, 2013). A common task used to assess this EF component is the Stroop Interference task. This task entails the presentation of a word in which the meaning of the word is congruent (e.g., "RED") or incongruent (e.g., "RED") with the color of the ink in which it is written. Notably, reaction times (RTs) are longer and response errors are greater in incongruent trials (Stroop, 1935) because of the top-down EF demands of inhibiting a standard wordnaming response in favour of a non-standard color-naming response (i.e., Stoop Interference Effect; for meta-analysis, see MacLeod 1992). Extensive work involving neuroimaging and lesion studies have shown that the inhibitory control component of the Stroop task is associated with activity of the DLPFC. For example, Liu and colleagues (2008) employed functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) and assessed Stroop performance in 10 healthy adults. They found that incongruent Stroop trials produced longer RTs and increased activation of the DLPC and ACC compared to their congruent trial counterparts. Moreover, work by Stuss et al. (2001) recruited 51 individuals with either frontal or non-frontal lesions, as well as 26 healthy controls and had them perform the Stroop task. Results showed that individuals with frontal lobe lesions exhibited longer RTs and more errors during the incongruent Stroop trials compared to individuals with non-frontal lesions and healthy controls. Accordingly, these studies demonstrate the importance of the DLPFC in supporting the inhibitory control component of EF.

Working memory is an EF component and is unlike short- and long-term memory given that it entails holding information in mind for dynamic manipulation (Diamond, 2013). An exemplar task to assess working memory is the n-back task. The task involves the presentation of a series of stimuli (e.g., letters, numbers, or shapes) and requires that an individual identify whether a current stimulus matches a target presented 'n' trials earlier in the series. For example, in a 2-back task, the participant would indicate whether the current stimulus matches a target presented two items earlier in the sequence. The level of difficulty on the n-back task can be manipulated by increasing the value of 'n' and this increase in complexity is indexed by increased RT and decreased response accuracy (Jaeggi et al., 2010). Owen et al.'s (2005) meta-analysis reported increased DLPFC and ACC activation as a function of n- back task complexity (i.e., greater activation in the 3-back task relative to the 1-back task). Further, Tsuchida and Fellows (2009) assessed performance on the 2-back task between 27 patients with focal damage to their DLPFC, and 29 healthy controls. They found that the participants with DLPFC lesions exhibited longer RTs and more errors during the n-back task. Together, these studies demonstrate the role of prefrontal regions (i.e., DLPC, ACC) in supporting the working memory component of EF.

Cognitive flexibility is the ability to change one's perspective and alternate between different tasks (i.e., set-shifting) to support complex problem solving (Diamond, 2013). Cognitive flexibility is commonly assessed via the AABB task-switching paradigm, which consist of two types of trials: one where a task is followed by the same task (task-repetition) and the other wherein a task is followed by a different one (taskswitch). Notably, task-switch trials have been shown to produce longer RTs and more errors and is a phenomenon referred to as a task-switch cost (for review, see Kiesel et al., 2010). The executive demands associated with task-switching are well outlined in neuroimaging and lesion studies. For example, Liston et al's (2006) fMRI work showed that the efficiency of task-switch trials was associated with increased activity within the DLPFC and ACC. In turn, Kopp and colleagues (2015) assessed cognitive flexibility via the Trail Making task (TMT) in individuals with frontal lobe lesions and observed that these individuals produced longer completion times and more errors than age-matched healthy controls. Moreover, Jiao et al's (2022) recent meta-analysis reported that the DLPFC plays a primary role in supporting task-switching efficiency.

1.2 Exercise and Executive Function

An extensive literature has reported that chronic exercise benefits EF (for review, see Allan et al., 2016; Etnier et al., 2020). For example, Padilla and colleagues (2013)

evaluated the effects of chronic exercise on inhibitory control via the Stop Signal Task (SST). In the SST participants are required to complete a preplanned response or inhibit the response at the time of response cuing (see Verbruggen & Logan, 2008). The authors found that regular exercisers (i.e., individuals exercising for a minimum of 3 days a week for at least 10 years) demonstrated reliably shorter SST RTs and fewer errors (i.e., failure to withhold response during Stop trials) than those who did not exercise at least 2 hours per week over the last 4 years.) Moreover, it has been well-documented that a single bout of exercise provides a "boost" to EF (for meta-analyses, see Ludyga et al., 2016). For example, Yanagisawa et al (2010) examined the acute effects of moderate-intensity aerobic exercise (70% of predicted maximum heart rate: HR_{max}) on Stroop performance and prefrontal cortex activation. Participants were randomly assigned to either an exercise group that completed 30-min of moderate intensity aerobic exercise or a nonexercise control group. Following the 30-min intervention, both groups completed the Stroop task and concurrent fMRI. Results showed that the exercise group produced shorter incongruent trial RTs and demonstrated increased activity in the DLPFC and ACC. Another study by Stute and colleagues (2020) employed the n-back task and assessed cerebral oxygenation via functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) – a tool used to detect changes in oxygenated hemoglobin to provide an estimate of cortical activity – before and after 15 min bout of moderate intensity (50% VO₂peak) aerobic exercise. The authors found a postexercise improvement in n-back performance and this benefit was linked to increased cerebral deoxygenation of the PFC region. These results accord the conclusions from Chang and colleagues' (2012) influential meta-analysis asserting that a single bout of aerobic exercise benefits EF, and that such a benefit is linked to increased activity of PFC regions (i.e., DLPFC, ACC).

Recent work by Samani and Heath (2018) had participants exercise at a moderateto-high intensity (i.e., 60–85% HR_{max}) for a duration of 10 min and assessed EF via antisaccades prior to an following the exercise intervention. The antisaccade task involves the inhibition of a standard prepotent prosaccade (i.e., saccade toward presented stimuli) and vector inversion to direct one's gaze mirror-symmetrical to the target. Antisaccades serve as an exemplary assessment of inhibitory control (Munoz and Everling, 2004) and are associated with longer RTs and less accurate and more variable endpoints than their prosaccade counterparts (Hallett, 1978; Gillen and Heath, 2014). The authors found a decrease in antisaccade RTs following the exercise intervention and thus demonstrated that a single bout of exercise, for as little as 10 min, benefits EF. Further, Shukla and Heath (2022) assessed the persistence of an EF benefit following 20 min of heavy intensity aerobic exercise (80% HR_{max}) via an AABB pro- and antisaccade paradigm (i.e., measure of cognitive flexibility) and found improved task-switching performance for up to 47 min postexercise. In turn, Tari and colleagues (2020) examined EF following 20 min of light (25 W), moderate- (80% estimated LT), and heavy-intensity (15% of the difference between LT and $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$) exercise intensities and reported improved antisaccade RTs for each intervention; that is, the magnitude of the postexercise EF benefit did not vary as a function of exercise intensity. Accordingly, results evince that a postexercise EF benefit: (1) can be accrued in as little of 10-min of exercise, (2) persists for up to 47 min, and (3) is observed across a continuum of exercise intensities.

1.3 Candidate mechanisms for an exercise-induced improvement in executive function

Exercise engenders a number of neurophysiological changes that have been linked to a postexercise EF benefit and include increased biomolecule levels such as catecholamines (e.g., norepinephrine: NE, dopamine: DA) and brain derived neurotropic factor (BDNF), increased CBF, and enhanced resting state functional connectivity within EF networks (for review, see Barnes 2015; Budde & Wegner, 2018).

An exercise-mediated increase in catecholamine concentrations elevates physiological and psychological arousal and some work has shown this to be linked to improved EF (Hershey et al., 2004). More specifically, it is theorized that the release of neurotransmitters DA and NA work cohesively to increase the strength of neural signaling (Rammsayer, 1993) and improve signal to "noise" ratio allowing increased efficiency of the PFC (Arnsten, 1988). Indeed, Gibbs and D'Esposito (2006) found improvements in working memory and increased fMRI activation of PFC regions following the administration of a DA receptor agonist (i.e., a substance used to increase DA receptor activation). In the exercise literature, exercise intensity has been shown to directly mediate the level of physiological and cognitive arousal. In particular, some work has shown that moderate intensity exercise optimally influences cognitive arousal (McMorris et al., 2011), whereas low and high intensities are considered insufficient or detrimental, respectively, to arousal-based changes (Cooper, 1973; for review, see McMorris 2021). However, this is inconsistent with recent literature reporting that light (e.g., 40-60% HRmax) and heavy (e.g., high intensity interval exercise: HIIE) intensity exercise improve EF (Hashimoto et al 2018; Morris et al., 2020; see also Tari et al. 2021). Moreover, Ando et al (2022) assessed pre- and postexercise inhibitory control and serum catecholamine levels following a 30 min bout of light intensity (~50% HRmax) aerobic and resistance training. The authors found expected improvements to inhibitory control; however, the improvement was not related to changes in catecholamine levels. Thus, evidence does not support the view that catecholamine concentration is a primary moderator for a postexercise EF benefit.

BDNF is a protein important for neural growth and survival (Vaynman et al., 2004) and has been linked to improved EF. Exercise has been found to increase serum BDNF and it has been proposed that this increase contributes to a postexercise EF benefit (Gómez-Pinilla et al., 2002). For example, Hwang et al. (2016) assessed EF (via inhibitory control) and concentrations of serum BDNF following a 20 min bout of heavy intensity (85-90% VO₂max) exercise. The authors found that improved inhibitory control was related to increased serum BDNF concentration. In contrast, Ferris and colleagues (2007) had participants complete 30 min of high (10% over ventilatory threshold) or low (20% below ventilatory threshold) intensity exercise. Results showed improved Stroop RTs following both exercise conditions; however, this benefit was unrelated to serum BDNF levels. What is more, Chang et al. (2017) reported the same null relationship between EF performance and serum-BDNF following a single bout of moderate-to-high intensity (60-70% of heart rate reserve: HRR) exercise. Thus, literature pertaining to BDNF and postexercise EF benefits remains equivocal.

Resting state functional connectivity is defined as information processing between structurally and functionally connected brain regions and some research has proposed that this process is improved following a single bout of exercise (for review, see Moore et

al., 2020). A common tool used to assess functional connectivity is fMRI; the blood oxygen level dependent (BOLD) signal utilized during fMRI depicts oxygen delivery and consumption of cortical regions (i.e., a measure of cortical activity; Ogawa et al., 1990). Schmitt and colleagues (2019) assessed functional connectivity via fMRI before and after 30 min of exercise at two different intensities (low: 35% below lactate threshold: high: 20% above lactate threshold). The authors found increased resting state connectivity over an extensive frontoparietal regions (including the ACC, DLPFC) following both exercise interventions and proposed that such a change reflects improved efficiency and effectiveness of neural networks. In contrast, Peven et al (2019), found no association between individual Stroop performance (i.e., RTs and error rates) and functional connectivity of the PFC region following maximal graded exercise. More recently, Voss et al. (2020) assessed functional connectivity and working memory (via n-back) following a 20 min bout of moderate (i.e., 65% of HRmax) intensity and passive exercise (i.e., cycling via mechanically driven stationary bike; see section 1.4). The authors reported improved n-back performance following exercise and demonstrated that this behavioural improvement was linked to increased activation of the DLPFC. Notably, however, the authors reported that the aforementioned changes were not linked to improved resting state functional connectivity. Therefore, the association between exercise-induced changes in functional connectivity and postexercise improvements to EF remains unclear.

Exercise increases CBF and this change has been proposed to contribute – in part – to a postexercise EF benefit. More specifically, exercise generates CO₂ as a by-product of cellular respiration that alters blood pH and triggers CO₂ sensitive chemoreceptors that induce systemic vasodilation resulting in an increase in CBF (for review, see Ainslie & Duffin, 2009; Hoiland et al., 2019; see also, section 1.4). In addition to the release of diffusible molecules (e.g., CO₂), mechanical stimulation (i.e., flexion and extension of muscles) during exercise triggers mechanosensitive Group III muscle afferents which have been shown to increase cardiac output and CBF (Nóbrega & Araujo, 1993; see section 1.4 for more detail). Indeed, elevated levels of CBF are thought to produce temperature-and mechanical-based changes to the brain's neural and glial pathways improving neural efficiency (i.e., the hemo-neural hypothesis; see Moore & Cao, 2008). This relationship is exemplified in work by Tari and colleagues (2020) who assessed EF (via antisaccades) in a condition requiring a 10 min bout of moderate- to heavy-intensity (65 to 150 W) exercise, and a separate non-exercise condition wherein participants inhaled a high-than-atmospheric concentration of CO₂ for 10-min (i.e., a hypercapnic environment). The hypercapnic environment was used because it produces a rapid increase in CBF independent of the metabolic demands of exercise (Kety & Schmidt, 1948; Raper et al., 1971; Ito et al., 2000). Notably, Tari et al. had participants perform the hypercaphic condition first so that changes in CBF across conditions could be matched via real-time transcranial Doppler ultrasound (TCD) monitoring of blood flow velocity through the middle cerebral artery (MCAv). Tari et al. employed a pre- and post-condition assessment of EF via antisaccades and results showed that exercise and hypercapnia conditions produced reliable – and equivalent magnitude – improvements in EF. Based on these results, Tari et al. proposed that an increase in CBF supports a postexercise improvement in EF. Further, Byun et al. (2014) examined Stroop task performance and frontoparietal activity via fNIRS prior to an after a 10-min bout of light intensity exercise (30% VO₂peak). Results showed the expected improvement in Stroop RTs and this benefit was linked to increased neurovascular coupling in the DLPFC. Accordingly, convergent evidence indicates that an increase in CBF represents a strong candidate mechanism for a postexercise EF benefit.

1.4 Passive exercise, hypercapnia, and their effects on cerebral blood flow and executive function

1.4.1 Passive Exercise

Passive exercise entails movement of limbs via an external force and is independent of volitional/active muscle recruitment. Previous work by Doering et al. (1998) found increases to CBF (via TCD) concurrent with 20 s sessions of passive flexion/extension of the upper- and lower- limbs. Further, Sato and colleagues (2009) reported increased CBF concurrent with 2 min of passive elbow flexion. Passive exercise has been theorized to contribute to an increase in CBF via two distinct mechanisms: (1) passive flexion and extension of large muscle groups (e.g., quadriceps) increases the discharge frequency of Group III mechanoreceptor (i.e., sensitive to muscle stretch) and activate neurons in the

brainstem and primary somatosensory cortex resulting in cerebral hyperemia (Nobrega,& Araujo, 1993; Nurhayati & Boutcher, 1998) and (2) increased central command drive, a feedforward mechanism that increases cardiac output in preparation of movement/exercise (Christensen et al., 2000; Matsukawa, 2012).

Passive exercise has also been shown to elicit structural changes and improve behavioral outcomes related to cognition. In rat models, chronic passive exercise interventions have been shown to increase hippocampal density, trigger the release of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and BDNF, and improve learning and memory (Uysal et al., 2015). In humans, Ridgel et al, (2013) found that a single 6-9 min bout of passive cycling, in participants with Parkinson's disease, improved task-switching performance. Notably, however, the authors did not concurrently assess CBF and it is thus not clear how passive exercise may benefit EF.

1.4.2 Hypercapnia

Hypercapnia is defined as an increase in the partial pressure of carbon dioxide (PaCO₂) above 45 mmHg (i.e., higher-than-atmospheric concentrations of CO₂) and is a stressor that can be generated externally (e.g., via inhalation of hypercapnic gas) or internally (i.e., as a by-product of cellular respiration) (for review, see Fabregas & Fernandez-Candill, 2016). Prolonged exposure to hypercapnia results in elevated blood acidity and risk of extracellular acidosis. Accordingly, excess levels of CO₂ are detected by aortic and carotid body chemoreceptors that trigger calcium (Ca₂⁺) and K⁺ channels to open, resulting in systemic vasodilation and an increase in CBF (for reviews see, Ainslie & Duffin, 2009). Indeed, Faraci and colleagues (1988) assessed the diameter of cerebral vasculature in rabbits when exposed to hypercapnic gas (5- 8% CO₂) and found that the diameter of the blood vessels increased relative to the CO₂ concentration (i.e., greater dilation at higher concentrations). In humans, an extensive literature has demonstrated a reliable increase in CBF concurrent with a hypercapnic environment (for review, see Ogoh 2019).

An interesting link between hypercapnia and EF can be found in the clinical literature wherein persons with chronic obstructive pulmonary disorder (COPD) and persons with

sleep apnea have been reported to have positive correlations between CO₂ concentrations and cognitive impairment (Beaudin et al., 2022; Dodd et al., 2010). Moreover, previous work examining the effects of acute hypercapnic exposure in healthy adults found detrimental effects on cognition concurrent with exposure to a hypercapnic environment (Satish et al. 2012). However, more recent work has reported no concurrent cognitive impairments (Rodeheffer et al., 2018; Scully et al., 2019). Further, and most recently, Tari et al (2020) found improvements to EF following a 10 min exposure to a 5% hypercapnic environment. Thus, there remains a high degree of heterogeneity in work regarding hypercapnia and cognitive function.

1.5 Research Predictions

Chapter 2 and 3 of my theses sought to address whether a 20 min single bout of passive cycle ergometry and a 10 min exposure to a 2.5% hypercapnic environment, respectively, increase CBF and provide a post-intervention EF benefit (assessed via antisaccades). In Chapter Two, EF was assessed prior to and immediately following the intervention, whereas in Chapter 3, EF was assessed prior to, concurrent with, and following hypercapnic exposure. In both Chapters 2 and 3, CBF was concurrently estimated via TCD measures of MCAv.

In terms of research predictions, if passive exercise and hypercapnia increases CBF then I predict that this physiological change will render a decrease in antisaccade RTs; that is, I predict that an increase in CBF will be linked to a postexercise EF benefit.

References

Ainslie, P. N., & Duffin, J. (2009). Integration of cerebrovascular CO2 reactivity and chemoreflex control of breathing: mechanisms of regulation, measurement, and interpretation. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 296(5), R1473–R1495.

Allan, J. L., McMinn, D., & Daly, M. (2016). A bidirectional relationship between executive function and health behavior: evidence, implications, and future directions. *Frontiers in neuroscience*, *10*, 386.

Ando, S., Komiyama, T., Tanoue, Y., Sudo, M., Costello, J. T., Uehara, Y., & Higaki, Y. (2022). Cognitive improvement after aerobic and resistance exercise is not associated with peripheral biomarkers. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, *16*, 853150.

Arnsten, A. F. (1997). Catecholamine regulation of the prefrontal cortex. *Journal of psychopharmacology*, *11*(2), 151-162.

Asahara, R., & Matsukawa, K. (2018). Decreased prefrontal oxygenation elicited by stimulation of limb mechanosensitive afferents during cycling exercise. American Journal of Physiology. Regulatory, *Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, *315*(2), R230–R240.

Barnes, J. N. (2015). Exercise, cognitive function, and aging. *Advances in physiology education*, *39*(2), 55-62.

Barnes, J. N., & Corkery, A. T. (2018). Exercise improves vascular function, but does this translate to the brain?. *Brain Plasticity*, *4*(1), 65-79.

Beaudin, A. E., Raneri, J. K., Ayas, N. T., Skomro, R. P., Smith, E. E., Hanly, P. J., & Canadian Sleep and Circadian Network. (2022). Contribution of hypercapnia to cognitive impairment in severe sleep-disordered breathing. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, *18*(1), 245-254.

Bishop, C. C., Powell, S., Rutt, D., & Browse, N. L. (1986). Transcranial Doppler measurement of middle cerebral artery blood flow velocity: a validation study. *Stroke*, *17*(5), 913-915.

Braem, S., King, J. A., Korb, F. M., Krebs, R. M., Notebaert, W., & Egner, T. (2017). The role of anterior cingulate cortex in the affective evaluation of conflict. *Journal of cognitive neuroscience*, *29*(1), 137-149.

Budde, H., & Wegner, M. (Eds.). (2018). The exercise effect on mental health: neurobiological mechanisms.

Byun, K., Hyodo, K., Suwabe, K., Ochi, G., Sakairi, Y., Kato, M., ... & Soya, H. (2014). Positive effect of acute mild exercise on executive function via arousal-related prefrontal activations: an fNIRS study. *Neuroimage*, *98*, 336-345.

Chang, Y. K., Alderman, B. L., Chu, C. H., Wang, C. C., Song, T. F., & Chen, F. T. (2017). Acute exercise has a general facilitative effect on cognitive function: A combined ERP temporal dynamics and BDNF study. *Psychophysiology*, *54*(2), 289-300.

Chang, Y. K., Labban, J. D., Gapin, J. I., & Etnier, J. L. (2012). The effects of acute exercise on cognitive performance: a meta-analysis. *Brain research*, *1453*, 87-101.

Chen, Z. Y., Bath, K., McEwen, B., Hempstead, B., & Lee, F. (2008, February). Impact of genetic variant BDNF (Val66Met) on brain structure and function. *In Growth Factors and Psychiatric Disorders:* 289, 180-192.

Christensen, L. O., Johannsen, P., Sinkjaer, T., Petersen, N., Pyndt, H. S., & Nielsen, J.
B. (2000). Cerebral activation during bicycle movements in man. *Experimental Comparative Physiology*, 296(5), R1473–R1495.

Cooper, C. J. (1973). Anatomical and physiological mechanisms of arousal, with special reference to the effects of exercise. *Ergonomics*, *16*(5), 601–609.

Diamond, A. (2013). Executive functions. Annual review of psychology, 64, 135-168.

Dodd, J. W., Getov, S. V., & Jones, P. W. (2010). Cognitive function in COPD. *European Respiratory Journal*, *35*(4), 913-922.

Doering, T. J., Resch, K. L., Steuernagel, B., Brix, J., Schneider, B., & Fischer, G. C. (1998). Passive and active exercises increase cerebral blood flow velocity in young, healthy individuals. *American journal of physical medicine & rehabilitation*, 77(6), 490-493.

Etnier, J. L., Chang, Y. K., & Chen, F. T. (2020). Chronic exercise and cognitive function: A historical view. *Handbook of Sport Psychology*, 795-814.

Fabregas, N., & Fernández-Candil, J. (2016). Hypercapnia. In *Complications in Neuroanesthesia*, 157-168.

Faraci, F. M., & Heistad, D. D. (1998). Regulation of the cerebral circulation: role of endothelium and potassium channels. *Physiological reviews*, 78(1), 53-97.

Ferris, L. T., Williams, J. S., & Shen, C. L. (2007). The effect of acute exercise on serum brain-derived neurotrophic factor levels and cognitive function. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, *39*(4), 728-734.

Gibbs, S. E. B., & D'Esposito, M. (2006). A functional magnetic resonance imaging study of the effects of pergolide, a dopamine receptor agonist, on component processes of working memory. *Neuroscience*, *139*(1), 359-371.

Gillen, C., & Heath, M. (2014). Target frequency influences antisaccade endpoint bias: evidence for perceptual averaging. *Vision Research*, *105*, 151-158.

Gómez-Pinilla, F., Ying, Z., Roy, R. R., Molteni, R., & Edgerton, V. R. (2002). Voluntary exercise induces a BDNF-mediated mechanism that promotes neuroplasticity. *Journal of neurophysiology*, 88(5), 2187-2195.

Guiney, H., Lucas, S. J., Cotter, J. D., & Machado, L. (2015). Evidence cerebral bloodflow regulation mediates exercise–cognition links in healthy young adults. *Neuropsychology*, 29(1), 1. Hallett, P.E. (1978). Primary and secondary saccades to goals defined by instructions. *Vision Research*, *18*, 1279-1296.

Hashimoto, T., Tsukamoto, H., Takenaka, S., Olesen, N. D., Petersen, L. G., Sørensen, H., Nielsen, H. B., Secher, N. H., & Ogoh, S. (2018). Maintained exercise enhanced brain executive function related to cerebral lactate metabolism in men. *FASEB Journal*, *32*(3), 1417–1427.

Hershey, T., Black, K. J., Hartlein, J., Braver, T. S., Barch, D. M., Carl, J. L., & Perlmutter, J. S. (2004). Dopaminergic modulation of inhibitory control: an fMRI study. *Cognitive Brain Research*, *20*(3), 438-448.

Hoiland, R. L., Fisher, J. A., & Ainslie, P. N. (2019). regulation of the cerebral circulation by arterial carbon dioxide. *Comprehensive Physiology*, *9*(3), 1101–1154.

Hwang, J., Brothers, R. M., Castelli, D. M., Glowacki, E. M., Chen, Y. T., Salinas, M.
M., ... & Calvert, H. G. (2016). Acute high-intensity exercise-induced cognitive enhancement and brain-derived neurotrophic factor in young, healthy adults. *Neuroscience letters*, 630, 247-253.

Jaeggi, S. M., Buschkuehl, M., Perrig, W. J., & Meier, B. (2010). The concurrent validity of the N-back task as a working memory measure. *Memory*, *18*(4), 394–412.

Jiao, L., Meng, N., Wang, Z., Schwieter, J. W., & Liu, C. (2022). Partially shared neural mechanisms of language control and executive control in bilinguals: Meta-analytic comparisons of language and task switching studies. *Neuropsychologia*, 108273.

Kiesel, A., Steinhauser, M., Wendt, M., Falkenstein, M., Jost, K., Philipp, A. M., & Koch, I. (2010). Control and interference in task switching—A review. *Psychological bulletin*, *136*(5), 849.

Kleinloog, J. P., Mensink, R. P., Ivanov, D., Adam, J. J., Uludağ, K., & Joris, P. J. (2019). Aerobic exercise training improves cerebral blood flow and executive function: a randomized, controlled cross-over trial in sedentary older men. *Frontiers in aging neuroscience*, *11*, 333.

Kopp, B., Rösser, N., Tabeling, S., Stürenburg, H. J., de Haan, B., Karnath, H. O., & Wessel, K. (2015). Errors on the trail making test are associated with right hemispheric frontal lobe damage in stroke patients. *Behavioural Neurology*, 2015.

Leckie, R. L., Oberlin, L. E., Voss, M. W., Prakash, R. S., Szabo-Reed, A., Chaddock-Heyman, L., ... & Erickson, K. I. (2014). BDNF mediates improvements in executive function following a 1-year exercise intervention. *Frontiers in human neuroscience*, *8*, 985.

Lin, Y., Dong, J., Yan, T., He, X., Zheng, X., Liang, H., & Sui, M. (2015). Involuntary, forced and voluntary exercises are equally capable of inducing hippocampal plasticity and the recovery of cognitive function after stroke. *Neurological research*, *37*(10), 893-901.

Liston, C., Matalon, S., Hare, T. A., Davidson, M. C., & Casey, B. J. (2006). Anterior cingulate and posterior parietal cortices are sensitive to dissociable forms of conflict in a task-switching paradigm. *Neuron*, *50*(4), 643-653.

Liu, J., Bai, J., & Zhang, D. (2008). Cognitive control explored by linear modelling behaviour and fMRI data during Stroop tasks. *Physiological Measurement*, *29*(7), 703.

Lommatzsch, M., Zingler, D., Schuhbaeck, K., Schloetcke, K., Zingler, C., Schuff-Werner, P., & Virchow, J. C. (2005). The impact of age, weight and gender on BDNF levels in human platelets and plasma. *Neurobiology of aging*, *26*(1), 115-123.

Ludyga, S., Gerber, M., Brand, S., Holsboer-Trachsler, E., & Pühse, U. (2016). Acute effects of moderate aerobic exercise on specific aspects of executive function in different age and fitness groups: A meta-analysis. *Psychophysiology*, *53*(11), 1611-1626.

MacLeod, C. M. (1992). The Stroop task: The "gold standard" of attentional measures. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: 121*(1), 12–14.

Matsukawa, K. (2012). Central command: control of cardiac sympathetic and vagal efferent nerve activity and the arterial baroreflex during spontaneous motor behaviour in animals. *Experimental Physiology*, *97*(1), 20-28.

McMorris, T. (2016). History of research into the acute exercise–cognition interaction: A cognitive psychology approach.

McMorris, T. (2021). The acute exercise-cognition interaction: From the catecholamines hypothesis to an interoception model. *International journal of Psychophysiology*, *170*, 75–88.

McMorris, T., Sproule, J., Turner, A., & Hale, B. J. (2011). Acute, intermediate intensity exercise, and speed and accuracy in working memory tasks: a meta-analytical comparison of effects. *Physiology & behavior*, *102*(3-4), 421-428.

Milner, B. (1963). Effects of different brain lesions on card sorting. *Archives of Neurology*, *9*(1), 90-100.

Miyake, A., Friedman, N. P., Emerson, M. J., Witzki, A. H., Howerter, A., & Wager, T. D. (2000). The unity and diversity of executive functions and their contributions to complex "frontal lobe" tasks: A latent variable analysis. *Cognitive psychology*, *41*(1), 49-100.

Moore, C. I., & Cao, R. (2008). The hemo-neural hypothesis: on the role of blood flow in information processing. *Journal of neurophysiology*, *99*(5), 2035-2047.

Moore, D., Jung, M., Hillman, C. H., Kang, M., & Loprinzi, P. D. (2022). Interrelationships between exercise, functional connectivity, and cognition among healthy adults: A systematic review. *Psychophysiology*, *59*(6), e14014.

Morris, T. P., Fried, P. J., Macone, J., Stillman, A., Gomes-Osman, J., Costa-Miserachs, D., ... & Pascual-Leone, A. (2020). Light aerobic exercise modulates executive function and cortical excitability. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, *51*(7), 1723-1734.

Munoz, D.P., & Everling, S. (2004). Look away: the anti-saccade task and the voluntary control of eye movements. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *5*, 218-228.

Nobrega, A. C., & Araujo, C. G. (1993). Heart rate transient at the onset of active and passive dynamic exercise. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, 25(1), 37-41.

Nurhayati, Y. A. T. I., & Boutcher, S. H. (1998). Cardiovascular response to passive cycle exercise. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, *30*(2), 234-238.

Ogawa, S., Lee, T. M., Kay, A. R., & Tank, D. W. (1990). Brain magnetic resonance imaging with contrast dependent on blood oxygenation. *National Academy of Sciences*, *87*(24), 9868-9872.

Ogoh, S. (2019). Interaction between the respiratory system and cerebral blood flow regulation. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, *127*(5), 1197-1205.

Owen, A. M., McMillan, K. M., Laird, A. R., & Bullmore, E. (2005). N-back working memory paradigm: A meta-analysis of normative functional neuroimaging studies. *Human Brain Mapping*, 25(1), 46-59.

Padilla, C., Perez, L., Andres, P., & Parmentier, F. B. (2013). Exercise improves cognitive control: evidence from the stop signal task. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, *27*(4), 505-511.

Peven, J. C., Litz, G. A., Brown, B., Xie, X., Grove, G. A., Watt, J. C., & Erickson, K. I. (2019). Higher cardiorespiratory fitness is associated with reduced functional brain connectivity during performance of the Stroop task. *Brain Plasticity*, *5*(1), 57-67.

Rammsayer, T. H. (1993). On dopaminergic modulation of temporal information processing. *Biological psychology*, *36*(3), 209-222.

Reitan, R. M. (1958). Validity of the Trail Making Test as an indicator of organic brain damage. *Perceptual and motor skills*, 8(3), 271-276.

Ridgel, A. L., Kim, C. H., Fickes, E. J., Muller, M. D., & Alberts, J. L. (2011). Changes in executive function after acute bouts of passive cycling in Parkinson's disease. *Journal of aging and physical activity*, *19*(2), 87-98.

Rodeheffer, C. D., Chabal, S., Clarke, J. M., & Fothergill, D. M. (2018). Acute exposure to low-to-moderate carbon dioxide levels and submariner decision making. *Aerospace Medicine and Human Performance*, *89*(6), 520-525.

Royall, D. R., Lauterbach, E. C., Cummings, J. L., Reeve, A., Rummans, T. A., Kaufer,
D. I., ... & Coffey, C. E. (2002). Executive control function: a review of its promise and challenges for clinical research. *The Journal of neuropsychiatry and clinical neurosciences*, 14(4), 377-405.

Samani, A., & Heath, M. (2018). Executive-related oculomotor control is improved following a 10-min single-bout of aerobic exercise: evidence from the antisaccade task. *Neuropsychologia*, *108*, 73–81.

Schmitt, A., Upadhyay, N., Martin, J. A., Rojas, S., Strüder, H. K., & Boecker, H. (2019). Modulation of distinct intrinsic resting state brain networks by acute exercise bouts of differing intensity. *Brain Plasticity*, *5*(1), 39-55.

Scully, R. R., Basner, M., Nasrini, J., Lam, C. W., Hermosillo, E., Gur, R. C., ... & Ryder, V. E. (2019). Effects of acute exposures to carbon dioxide on decision making and cognition in astronaut-like subjects. *Microgravity*, *5*(1), 17.

Shukla, D., & Heath, M. (2022). A single bout of exercise provides a persistent benefit to cognitive flexibility. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*, *93*(3), 516–527.

Stroop, J. R. (1935). Studies of interference in serial verbal reactions. *Journal of experimental psychology*, *18*(6), 643.

Stuss, D. T., Floden, D., Alexander, M. P., Levine, B., & Katz, D. (2001). Stroop performance in focal lesion patients: dissociation of processes and frontal lobe lesion location. *Neuropsychologia*, *39*(8), 771-786.

Stute, K., Hudl, N., Stojan, R., & Voelcker-Rehage, C. (2020). Shedding light on the effects of moderate acute exercise on working memory performance in healthy older adults: an fNIRS study. *Brain sciences*, *10*(11), 813.

Tari, B., Shirzad, M., Behboodpour, N., Belfry, G. R., & Heath, M. (2021). Exercise intensity-specific changes to cerebral blood velocity do not modulate a postexercise executive function benefit. *Neuropsychologia*, *161*, 108018.

Tari, B., Vanhie, J. J., Belfry, G. R., Shoemaker, J. K., & Heath, M. (2020). Increased cerebral blood flow supports a single-bout postexercise benefit to executive function: evidence from hypercapnia. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *124*(3), 930-940.

Truelle, J.L., Le Gall, D., Joseph, P.A., & Aubin, G. (1995). Movement disturbances following frontal lobe lesions: qualitative analysis of gesture and motor programming. *Neuropsychiatry, Neuropsychology, and Behavioral Neurology, 8*, 14-19.

Tsuchida, A., & Fellows, L. K. (2009). Lesion evidence that two distinct regions within prefrontal cortex are critical for n-back performance in humans. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, *21*(12), 2263-2275.

Tsuchida, A., Fellows, L. K., & Ueda, K. (2010). Lesion evidence that two distinct regions within prefrontal cortex are critical for n-back performance in humans. *The Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 22(12), 2673-2683.

Uysal, N., Kiray, M. Ü. G. E., Sisman, A. R., Camsari, U. M., Gencoglu, C., Baykara, B. A. Ş. A. K., ... & Aksu, I. (2015). Effects of voluntary and involuntary exercise on cognitive functions, and VEGF and BDNF levels in adolescent rats. *Biotechnic & Histochemistry*, *90*(1), 55-68.

Vaynman, S., Ying, Z., & Gomez-Pinilla, F. (2004). Hippocampal BDNF mediates the efficacy of exercise on synaptic plasticity and cognition. *European Journal of neuroscience*, *20*(10), 2580-2590.

Verbruggen, F., & Logan, G. D. (2008). Response inhibition in the stop-signal paradigm. *Trends in cognitive sciences*, *12*(11), 418-424.

Voss, M. W., Weng, T. B., Narayana-Kumanan, K., Cole, R. C., Wharff, C., Reist, L., ... & Pierce, G. L. (2020). Acute exercise effects predict training change in cognition and connectivity. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, *52*(1), 131.

Yanagisawa, H., Dan, I., Tsuzuki, D., Kato, M., Okamoto, M., Kyutoku, Y., & Soya, H. (2010). Acute moderate exercise elicits increased dorsolateral prefrontal activation and improves cognitive performance with Stroop test. *NeuroImage*, *50*(4), 1702–1710.

Yeung, N., Nystrom, L. E., Aronson, J. A., & Cohen, J. D. (2006). Between-task competition and cognitive control in task switching. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *26*(5), 1429-1438.

Chapter 2

2 Introduction »

Executive function entails the high-level cognitive control components of inhibitory control, working memory, and cognitive flexibility – components essential to successful activities of daily living (Diamond, 2013; Miyake et al., 2000). Accumulating literature has demonstrated that a single bout of aerobic and/or resistance exercise across a continuum of intensities provides a transient improvement (i.e., <60-min) to executive function (Barella et al., 2010; Hung et al., 2013; Shukla & Heath, 2021; for metaanalyses see, Chang et al., 2012; Lambourne & Tomporowski, 2010; Ludyga et al., 2016). A candidate mechanism contributing to this improvement is an exercise-mediated increase in cerebral blood flow (CBF). Indeed, exercise initiates a rapid rise in CBF via CO₂ production from volitional muscle activation, increased diffusible molecules (e.g., nitric oxide: NO), heart rate, ventilation, and concomitant vascular deformation increasing systolic blood pressure (Smith & Ainslie, 2017). The increase in CBF has been linked to temperature- and mechanical-based changes to the brain's neural and glial networks that enhance the efficiency of local neural circuits involved in information processing (i.e., the hemo-neural hypothesis; see Moore & Cao, 2008). As well, chronic hypoperfusion linked to age- and disease-related states impairs executive function (Bertsch et al., 2009). Accordingly, the combined exercise and hypoperfusion literature evince a bi-directional relationship between CBF and executive function. In further support for the role of CBF in a postexercise executive function benefit, our group had participants complete a 10-min single bout of aerobic exercise via cycle ergometer, and a condition wherein participants inhaled a higher-than-atmospheric concentration of CO_2 for 10-min without exercising (i.e., hypercapnia) (Tari et al., 2020). The hypercapnic environment was used because it produces a rapid increase in CBF independent of the metabolic demands of exercise (Ito et al., 2003; Kety & Schmidt, 1948; Raper et al., 1971). Notably, Tari et al. had participants perform the hypercapnic condition first so that changes in CBF across conditions could be matched via real-time transcranial Doppler ultrasound (TCD) monitoring of blood flow velocity (BV) through the middle cerebral artery (MCA). Tari et al. employed a pre-and post-condition assessment of executive

function via an oculomotor task (see details below) and results showed that exercise and hypercapnia conditions produced reliable – and equivalent magnitude – improvements in the oculomotor-based index of executive function, whereas a non-exercise, nonhypercapnic control condition did not elicit a pre- to post-condition change in the same index of executive function. Based on these results, Tari et al. proposed that an increase in CBF supports a postexercise improvement in executive function. Although ample evidence indicates that aerobic and resistance exercise (so-called active exercise) increases CBF and leads to a postexercise improvement in executive function, to our knowledge no work has examined whether passive exercise similarly benefits executive function. Passive exercise occurs when a limb or joint is manipulated/moved without volitional control and is an established rehabilitation technique frequently used to improve local blood flow following an acute musculoskeletal injury, and to support longterm rehabilitation in populations with reduced (e.g., hemiparesis following stroke) or absent (e.g., spinal cord injury) mobility (for review see Trinity & Richardson, 2019). In spite of the fact that passive exercise does not generally entail any volitional muscle activation (cf. Bell & Duffin, 2003), it does induce hyperemia and increases CBF in healthy individuals (Doering et al., 1998; Matteis et al., 2003; Nagaya et al., 2015). For example, passive cycle ergometry of the lower limbs increases CBF from baseline in concert with increased cardiac output, stroke volume and systolic blood pressure (Doherty et al., 2018; Nobrega et al., 1994). Also, some work has shown that passive exercise does not alter heart rate or respiration and occurs independent of a change in diffusible CO₂ and NO (Asahara & Matsukawa, 2018). Thus, the mechanisms associated with a passive-exercise increase in CBF are different from those associated with active exercise. The passive exercise increase in CBF has been linked to the activation of (1) mechanosensitive Group III muscle afferents that stimulate the primary somatosensory cortex and increase cardiac output and stroke volume (Gladwell & Coote, 2002; Nobrega & Araujo, 1993; Nurhayati & Boutcher, 1998) and (2) feedforward command mechanisms that alter cardiovascular centers via descending central neural pathways involved in somato-motor activity (Eldridge et al., 1985; Goodwin et al., 1972; Krogh & Lindhard, 1913; Matsukawa, 2012; Victor et al., 1995). The goals of the current study were to examine whether a passive exercise-mediated increase in CBF is associated with
a postexercise improvement in an oculomotor-based index of executive function, and to contrast whether a putative improvement is equivalent to that observed following active exercise. To that end, separate passive exercise, active exercise and control conditions were included here. In the active exercise condition, participants pedaled a cycle ergometer for 20-min at a light-intensity, whereas in the passive exercise condition the same duration of exercise was implemented, and the cycle ergometer flywheel was mechanically driven with revolutions per minute (rpm) matched to the active exercise condition. In the control condition, participants sat on the cycle ergometer without passive or active exercise. In a pre-investigation procedural vali dation, electromyography (EMG), respiratory (\dot{V}_E as well as heart rate and blood pressure) and gas exchange (i.e., $\dot{V}O_2$, $\dot{V}CO_2$) variables were measured across each condition to ensure that our passive exercise condition did not produce volitional activation of agonist muscles and/or a task-based increase in metabolic demands. This was deemed necessary given work by Duffin and colleagues (Bell et al., 2003; Bell & Duffin, 2003, 2004) reporting that passive cycle ergometry (via tandem bicycle) can increase ventilation and produce a steady-state hyperpnea with continued exercise – a response that would alter blood pH and decrease CBF without a concomitant change in blood pressure. That Duffin and colleagues observed an increase in respiration during passive exercise may relate to the mode of delivery (i.e., tandem ergometer vs. mechanically driven flywheel) and/or the pedal frequency used in their work. In particular, Duffin and colleagues had participants 'passively' cycle on a tandem ergometer (i.e., the experimenter pedaled) without a feedforward cue related to pedal frequency (i.e., metronome) – a passive exercise mode requiring activation of lower leg musculature that can increase respiration. In contrast, externally timed and mechanically driven passive leg extensions did not influence respiration (see Bell & Duffin, 2006). Accordingly, we sought to verify that the passive cycle ergometry (via mechanical flywheel and a metronome-paced frequency) used here did not alter respiratory, gas exchange or cardiorespiratory measures. Subsequently, in the main experiment, TCD was used to estimate BV through the MCA in each condition. As in previous work by our group (Dirk et al., 2020; Heath et al., 2016; Petrella et al., 2019; Samani & Heath, 2018; Shukla & Heath, 2021) an antisaccade task completed preand post-condition was used to provide an oculomotor-based index of executive function.

Antisaccades require a goal-directed eye movement (i.e., a saccade) mirror-symmetrical to an exogenously presented target and produce longer reaction times (RT) (Fischer & Weber, 1992; Hallett, 1978) and less accurate and more variable endpoints than their prosaccade (i.e., saccade to veridical target) counterparts (Dafoe et al., 2007; Gillen & Heath, 2014). Extensive evidence has shown that the behavioral 'costs' of antisaccades are attributed to the two-component executive function demands of response inhibition and vector inversion (i.e., 180° spatial transformation of a target location and a feature of cognitive flexibility) (for review see, Munoz & Everling, 2004). Moreover, human functional neuroimaging and lesion studies, and non-human primate work involving cryogenic deactivation of the prefrontal cortex, has shown that a directionally correct antisaccade is supported by a task-set that flexibly maintains behavioral rules on a moment-to-moment basis (for review see Everling & Johnston, 2013). Hence, antisaccades require top-down control supported via each core component of executive function. What is more, the frontoparietal networks supporting antisaccades are the same as those showing task-based changes in activity following single and chronic bouts of exercise (Colcombe et al., 2004; Verburgh et al., 2014; Voss et al., 2010). As such, antisaccades provide a framework for examining subtle exercise-mediated changes in executive function. In terms of research predictions, if an increase in CBF is related to an improvement in an oculomotor-based index of executive function then antisaccade RTs should decrease from pre- to post-condition assessments in passive and active exercise conditions. In contrast, if an increase in CBF is an epiphenomenon associated with passive and active exercise then the postcondition improvement in antisaccade RTs should be selectively restricted to the active exercise condition.

2.1 Methods

2.1.1 Participants

In the pre-investigation procedural validation, two participants (one female and one male aged 22 and 21, respectively) were recruited. In the main experiment, 28 participants were recruited (11 female, age range: 19– 26 years) with sample size determined a priori via an effect size derived from previous work examining pre- to postexercise changes in antisaccade RTs ($\alpha = 0.05$, power = 0.99, d_z = 1.30) (Tari et al., 2020). All participants

were naïve to the purpose of this study and were recruited from the University of Western Ontario community. Participants were self-reported right-hand dominant (i.e., "what hand do you write with?"), with normal or corrected-to-normal vision, no history of smoking and/or cardiorespiratory, metabolic, musculoskeletal, neurologic (including concussion), or neuropsychiatric disorder. Participants reported that they did not take medication that may affect metabolic, cardiac, respiratory, or hemodynamic responses to exercise. It was requested that participants not consume alcohol or caffeine 12h prior to the study and that they get 8 h of sleep on the night prior to each data collection session. The order in which conditions were performed (in both the procedural validation and main experiment) were randomized with each completed on a different day separated by at least 24h. All data collection took place between 9:30 am and 12:00pm with participants in a hydrated state (i.e., 555ml consumed 1-h in advance of data collection). Prior to data collection, participants read a letter of information approved by the Health Sciences Research Ethics Board, University of Western Ontario and provided informed written consent. This study was conducted according to the most recent iteration of the Declaration of Helsinki with the exception that participants were not registered in a database. All participants obtained a full score on the 2020 Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire (PARQ+) and completed the Godin Leisure-Time Exercise Questionnaire (GLTEQ). For the preinvestigation procedural validation, GLETQ scores for the female and male participant were 70 and 84, respectively. In the main experiment, the average GLETQ score was 62 (SD = 26; range: 36-96) – results indicating that all participants were active.

2.2 Apparatus and procedure

The pre-investigation validation procedure and main experiment involved three conditions: active exercise, passive exercise, and a control condition. For all conditions, participants sat upright on an active-passive cycle ergometer (E-PAT AP; Healthcare International, Langley, WA, USA) equipped with a mechanically driven flywheel and their feet secured to the ergometer pedals via Velcro straps. Participants were positioned such that their legs achieved approximately 85% of full extension at the end of an active pedal stroke. All conditions were preceded by a 2-min baselining in which participants remained stationary on the ergometer. In the active exercise condition, a 2-min warm-up

followed baselining and required active cycling against a resistance of 15W at a cadence of 40 rpm. Subsequently, a step-transition to active cycling against a resistance of 37W (cadence = 70 rpm) was completed for a 20-min interval, after which a 2-min cool-down was performed as per the warm-up. The active exercise condition corresponds to a "light" intensity in the exercise work-rate continuum (Shim et al., 2013; Takata et al., 1990; Tari, Shirzad, Behboodpour, et al., 2021). The passive exercise condition employed the same timeline as the active exercise condition (i.e., baseline, warm-up, intervention, cooldown); however, pedal cadence during warm-up, intervention and cool-down was mechanically driven and participants were instructed to not actively engage their leg muscles. During the warm-up/cool-down, cadence was set at 40 rpm and transitioned to 70 rpm during the 20-min intervention. For the control condition, participants sat on the cycle ergometer for the baseline procedure and an additional 24-min (i.e., 26-min total: a period equivalent to warm-up, intervention, and cool-down in the exercise conditions) and watched a television sitcom on a popular streaming application. For all conditions, a metronome (MA-2-BKRD; Korg, Tokyo, Japan) was played. The metronome was used to support equivalent pedal cadence in the active and passive conditions.

2.3 Pre-investigation procedural validation

For the procedural validation, EMG from primary agonists involved in cycling were collected (Hug & Dorel, 2009) as were ventilatory, gas exchange and cardiovascular (i.e., heart rate and blood pressure) variables. Given the objective of this validation, we did not include pre- and postcondition measures of executive function.

2.3.1 EMG data collection

Surface EMG were recorded from 10mm Ag/AgCL electrodes (Trigno Avanti Sensor; Delsys, Inc. Natick, MA, USA) placed on the right vastus lateralis (i.e., 2/3 distance between anterior iliac spine and the lateral side of the patella), right biceps femoris (i.e., 1/2 distance between participants' ischial tuberosity and lateral epicondyle of the tibia), and right lumbar erector spinae (i.e., ~2.5 cm laterally from the spine and in line with the iliac crest). A reference electrode was placed on the superior iliac crest. Electrode sites were cleaned with an alcohol swab, lightly abraded and coated with EMG gel (Nu-prep, Weaver and Company, CO, USA). EMG signals were amplified, bandpass filtered (i.e., 20–450Hz) and collected (EMGworks; Delsys, Inc. Natick, MA, USA) at 1926Hz for the vastus lateralis and biceps femoris, and at 1260Hz for the lumbar erector spinae. MATLAB (2018b: Mathworks, Natick, Mass., USA) was used to identify windows for inspection and visually compare conditions.



Figure 1. Vastus lateralis (a), erector spinae (b), and biceps femoris (c) electromyography (EMG) of the female participant in the active exercise (red), passive exercise (blue) and control (green) conditions of the procedural validation investigation. The figure demonstrates ten successive pedal strokes starting at the 10-min mark of the active and passive exercise conditions and shows an equivalent time frame for the control condition. The figure shows that the primary agonist (i.e., vastus lateralis) involved in leg extension elicited periodized activity during the active exercise conditions, whereas periodized activity did not occur in the passive exercise or control conditions.

2.3.2 Ventilatory and gas exchange data collection

Participants were fitted with a face mask (7450 Series V2 Oro-Nasal Reusable Face Mask; Hans Rudolph, Shawnee, KS, USA) providing an airtight seal around the mouth and nose to assess breath-by-breath gas exchange of O₂ uptake (VO₂) and CO₂ output (VCO₂) via metabolic cart (CPET; Cosmed, Rome, Italy). Prior to data collection, the metabolic cart was calibrated according to the manufacturer's guidelines using room air and a precision -mixed cylinder of known concentrations, and turbine volume was calibrated with a syringe of known volume. The facemask was attached in series to a volume turbine and a non-rebreathing valve (Han s Rudolph). A 2-ft hose connected the inspiratory end of the non-rebreathing valve to a 3-way valve that was interfaced with a Douglas bag. The 3 -way valve permitted the rapid switching from room air to the Douglas bag which contained either a hypercapnic or normocapnic (control) gas mixture. Heart rate was measured continuously by a heart rate monitor (Polar Electro T34, Kempele, Findland) using PowerLab (ML132/ML880, ADInstruments, Colorado Springs, CO, USA) and was calculated (using a 5 s rolling average) based on successive heart beats (i.e., RR interval), and blood pressure was taken at regular intervals (i.e., 3, 6, 9, 12, 15, 18, 21 and 24min) via a manual sphygmomanometer and stethoscope (Welch Allyn FlexiPort reusable blood pressure cuff; Welch Allyn Inc. Skaneateles Falls, NY, USA) secured to participants' left upper arm. All data post-processing matches that outlined in previous work by our group (Dirk et al., 2020; Heath et al., 2018; Petrella et al., 2019; Tari et al., 2020; Tari, Shirzad, Behboodpour, et al., 2021). EMG data for the female participant are presented in Figure 1 across ten successive pedal revolutions at the 10-min mark in the active and passive conditions and an equivalent time period in the control condition. The active exercise condition shows periodized activation of the vastus lateralis – a result consistent with a wealth of evidence demonstrating muscle activation patterns for active cycling (for extensive review, see Hug & Dorel, 2009). In contrast, the passive exercise condition shows no discernable change in muscle activation and mirrors that associated with the control condition. The ventilatory and gas exchange variables for the female participant are shown in Figure 2. The active condition showed increased $\dot{V}O_2$, $\dot{V}CO_2$ and \dot{V}_E from baseline to warm-up and a further increase during the 20-min intervention. Moreover, the baseline-to-intervention increases in $\dot{V}O_2$, $\dot{V}CO_2$ and \dot{V}_E are

directly in line with the "light-intensity" protocol employed by Tari, Shirzad, Behboodpour, et al. (2021) which required 10-min of cycling on an upright ergometer at 25W (75rpm). In contrast, the passive exercise condition did not show a substantial change in any variable across baseline, warm-up, and intervention and corresponded to the control condition. Table 1 shows that active condition heart rate and systolic blood pressure increased from baseline, warm-up, and intervention, whereas passive exercise and control condition values did not demonstrate an appreciable change across each assessment period. EMG, ventilatory and gas exchange data for the male participant were comparable to the female participant. Thus, the procedural validation demonstrates that the passive exercise condition did not lead to activation of agonist musculature and did not render increased task-based cardiovascular or ventilatory demands.



Figure 3. O_2 consumption ($\dot{V}O_2$), CO₂ output ($\dot{V}CO_2$) and ventilation (\dot{V}_E) data of the female participant in the active exercise (red), passive exercise (blue) and the control (green) conditions of the procedural validation pilot investigation. Data were sampled at 5 s intervals across a 24-min (i.e., 2-min baseline, 2-min warmup, and 20-min intervention period) and show that the active exercise condition produced a baseline to steady-state increase in $\dot{V}O_2$, $\dot{V}CO_2$ and \dot{V}_E , whereas no such change was observed for the passive exercise or control conditions.

2.4 Main Experiment

The conditions used in the main experiment (i.e., active exercise, passive exercise and control) matched the procedural validation with the exception that neither EMG nor ventilatory data were captured. Instead, the main investigation provided an estimate of

CBF via TCD through the MCA and included a pre- and post-condition examination of executive function. In addition, for the main experiment heart rate and blood pressure were taken at regular intervals (i.e., heart rate: 2, 12, 22min; blood pressure: 12min).

2.4.1 TCD data collection

For each condition, a TCD probe (Neurovision 500M, Neurovision TOC2M; Multigon Industries, Elmsford, CA) was coated in an aqueous ultrasound gel (Aquasonic Clear, Parker Laboratories Inc., Fairfield, NJ) and secured via headband to participants' left anterior temporal window to measure blood flow velocity (BV) through the MCA. Importantly, TCD is a valid proxy for a direct measure of changes in CBF (Bishop et al., 1986).

2.4.2 Executive function assessment

To provide an index of executive function, an oculomotor task (with which participants were not familiarized) was completed prior to and immediately following each condition. For each assessment, participants sat on a height-adjustable chair in front of a table on which an LCD monitor (60Hz, 8-ms response rate, 1280×960 pixels; Dell 3007WFP, Round Rock, TX) was located 550mm from the table's front edge. Participants placed their head in a head-chin rest, and the gaze location of their left eye was tracked via a video-based eye tracking system (EyeLink 1000 Plus; SR Research, Ottawa, ON, Canada) sampling at 1000Hz. Prior to data collection, a nine-point calibration and validation of the viewing space was completed (i.e., <1° of error). All experimental events were controlled via MATLAB (R2018a; The MathWorks, Natick, MA, USA) and the Psychophysics Toolbox extension (v. 3.0) (Brainard, 1997; Kleiner et al., 2007) including the EyeLink Toolbox (Cornelissen et al., 2002). The lights in the experimental suite were extinguished during data collection. Visual stimuli were presented on a black screen (0.1 cd/m²) and included a midline-located red fixation cross (1° : 50 cd/m²) presented at participants' eye level and targets (i.e., open white circle; 2.5° in diameter: 127 cd/m2) presented 15° (i.e., proximal target) and 20° (i.e., distal target) to the left and right of fixation and in the same horizontal plane. Fixation onset signaled participants to direct their gaze to its location. Once a stable gaze was achieved (i.e.,±1.5° for 450ms),

a uniformly distributed randomized foreperiod (1000–2000ms) was introduced after which the fixation disappeared and a target appeared 200ms thereafter (i.e., gap paradigm). Target onset cued participants to saccade mirror-symmetrical to the target location (i.e., antisaccade) as "quickly and accurately as possible". For each oculomotor assessment, 20 trials to each target location (i.e., left, and right visual field) and eccentricity (i.e., proximal, and distal) were randomly presented (i.e., 80 total trials).

2.4.3 Data reduction

TCD data corrupted by signal aliasing and/or signal loss (e.g., a sudden head shift) were omitted (Terslev et al., 2017) and systolic BVs were retained for analysis (Clyde et al., 1996). Systolic BVs were analyzed given Rosengarten and Kaps' (2002) demonstration that they provide a valid measure for TCD-based changes in BV through the MCA and provide a measure for increased task-based demands in oculomotor control (Duschek et al., 2018; Tari, Shirzad, Badcock, et al., 2021). Mean values were determined via the last minute of rest (i.e., baseline) and the last minute of each intervention (i.e., steady-state). Gaze position data were filtered offline using a dualpass Butterworth filter with a low-pass cut-off frequency of 15Hz. A five-point central-finite difference algorithm was used to compute instantaneous velocities and accelerations. Saccade onset was determined when velocity and acceleration exceeded 30°/s and 8000° /s², respectively. Saccade offset was determined when velocity fell below 30°/s for 40ms. Trials involving a signal loss (e.g., an eyeblink) were removed as were anticipatory responses (RTs 2.5 standard deviations from a participant- and task-specific mean (Gillen & Heath, 2014). Less than 4% of trials for any participant were omitted. Trials involving a directional error (i.e., a prosaccade instead of an instructed antisaccade) were excluded from subsequent analyses because they are associated with planning mechanisms distinct from their directionally correct counterparts (DeSimone et al., 2014) and accounted for less than 5% of trials. This low error rate is attributed to the fact that antisaccades were not interleaved with prosaccades.

2.4.4 Dependent variables and statistical analyses

BV data were analyzed via 3 (condition: active exercise, passive exercise, control) by 2 (time: baseline, steady-state) fully repeated measures ANOVA ($\alpha = 0.05$). Heart rate was analyzed via 3 (condition: active exercise, passive exercise, control) by 3 (time: 2-min, 12-min, 22-min) fully repeated measures ANOVA ($\alpha = 0.05$), and systolic, and diastolic blood pressure captured at the 12-min interval of each condition were assessed via separate one-way (condition: active exercise, passive exercise, control) ANOVA ($\alpha = 0.05$). Oculomotor dependent variables included RT (i.e., time from response cueing to saccade onset), interquartile range of RT (i.e., IQR of RT), saccade duration (i.e., time from saccade onset to saccade offset) and saccade gain (i.e., saccade amplitude/veridical target location). Oculomotor dependent variables were examined via 3 (condition: active exercise, passive exercise, control) by 2 (time: pre-, post-) fully repeated measures ANOVA ($\alpha = 0.05$). For the majority of our dependent variables, mean values were used in our ANOVA models given that data were not skewed (g11.00) and as a result medians were used. Where appropriate, Huynh-Feldt corrections for violations of sphericity are reported (i.e., degrees of freedom adjusted to one decimal place). All interactions and appropriate main effects were decomposed via simple-effects (i.e., reduced model ANOVA and/or paired-samples t-test).

2.5 Results

2.5.1 Heart rate and blood pressure

Heart rate produced main effects for condition, F(1.7, 44.7) = 106.25, p < .001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.80$, time, F(1.7, 46.1) = 28.52, p < .001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.51$, and a condition by time interaction, F(2.2, 59.5) = 29.49, p < .001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.52$. Passive exercise and control condition heart rates did not vary across the 2- (passive: 83, SD = 12, control: 75, SD = 8), 12- (passive: 82, SD = 12, control: 76, SD = 8) and 22- min (passive: 82, SD = 11, control: 76, SD = 8) intervals (all t[27] < 1.16 and < -0.98, ps = .26 and = .33, $d_z < 0.22$ and < -0.19), whereas active exercise condition heart rates increased from the 2- (98, SD = 18) to 12- min (113, SD = 20) interval (t[27] = -5.73, p < .001, $d_z = -1.08$) and the latter did not differ from the 22- min (115, SD = 17) interval (t[27] = -0.88, p = .39, $d_z = -0.17$). Systolic and

diastolic blood pressure yielded main ef-fects of condition, all F(2, 54) = 21.59 and 5.86, ps <.001 and .004, $\eta_p^2 = 0.35$ and 0.13. For systolic blood pressure, pas-sive (127 mmHg, SD = 15) and active (145 mmHg, SD = 18) exercise conditions produced larger values than the control condition (121 mmHg, SD = 8) (all t[27] > -2.42, ps <.02, all d_z > -0.46), with values in the active exercise condition being larger than the passive exercise condition (t[27] = -5.88, p < .001, d_z = -1.11). For diastolic blood pressure, active exercise condition values (88 mmHg, SD = 11) were larger than control (81 mmHg, SD = 8) and passive exercise (82 mmHg, SD = 8) conditions (all t[27] > -2.51, ps <.02, all d_z > -0.47) and the latter two conditions did not reliably differ (t[27] = -0.28, p = .78, d_z = -0.05).

Table 2. Heart rate (HR) and blood pressure (systolic pressure: SBP; diastolic pressure: DBP) for the female participant in the procedural validation investigation at discrete timepoints during the control, passive exercise and active exercise conditions

Time (min)	Control HR	Passive HR	Active HR	Control SBP	Passive SBP	Active SBP	Control DBP	Passive DBP	Active DBP
0	96	92	96	126	124	126	96	94	90
3	92	92	106	120	130	132	96	98	98
6	91	90	124	130	132	142	96	92	98
9	96	96	130	126	136	150	96	88	96
12	94	92	128	124	130	148	94	94	92
15	94	94	132	118	132	142	98	98	96
18	96	96	138	136	136	144	100	92	98
21	96	96	130	126	136	142	100	80	102
24	92	94	134	128	132	148	94	82	98
Average (SD)	94 (2)	93 (2)	124 (14)	126 (5)	132 (4)	141 (8)	96 (2)	90 (6)	96 (4)

2.5.2 TCD blood flow velocity through the MCA

Systolic BV produced main effects for condition, F(1.8, 49.3) = 5.17, p = .009, $\eta_p^2 = 0.16$, and time, F(1, 27) = 103.87, p < .001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.79$, and their interaction, F(1.7, 46.8) = 53.26, p < .001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.66$. Figure 3 demonstrates that passive and active exercise conditions in-creased BV from baseline to steady- state (all t[27] = -5.33 and - 9.98, ps <.001, d_z = -1.01 and - 1.89), whereas no reliable change from baseline was observed for the control con-dition (t[27] = 0.57, p = .57, d_z = 0.11). To

address whether the magnitude of the baseline to steady- state change in BV varied across active and passive exercise conditions we computed participant- specific BV difference scores (i.e., steady-state minus baseline) and observed that values were larger in the active (25 cm/s, SD = 13) than passive (7 cm/s, SD = 7) exercise condition (t[27] = -6.81, p < .001, d_z = -1.29).





represents a reliable difference inclusive to a test of the null hypothesis (Cumming, 2014).

2.5.3 Oculomotor performance

RT produced a main effect for time, F(1, 27) = 20.67, p < .001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.43$, and a condition by time interaction, F(2, 54) = 10.64, p < .001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.28$. Figure 4a shows that control condition RTs did not reliably vary pre- to post- condition (t[27] = -0.19, p = .85, $d_z = -0.04$), whereas passive and active condition RTs decreased postexercise (all t[27] = 2.23 and 5.75, ps = .034 and <.001, $d_z = 0.42$ and 1.09). Given the nature of our research objective, we computed active and passive exercise condition RT difference scores (i.e., post- minus pre- condition) and Figure 4b shows a larger magnitude reduction in the former (t[27] = 2.14, p = .042, $d_z = 0.40$).RT IQR yielded a main effect of condition, F(2, 54) = 3.80, p = .03, $\eta_p^2 = 0.12$: passive exercise condition RTs (49 ms, SD = 18) were more variable than control (43 ms, SD = 14) or active exercise (44 ms, SD = 16) conditions (all t[27] = -2.59 and 2.11, ps = .02 and .044, $d_z = -0.48$ and 0.39), and the latter two conditions did not reliably differ (t[27] = -0.58, p = .57, $d_z = -0.11$). The grand means for saccade duration and saccade gain were 64 ms (SD = 19) and 0.74° (SD = 0.22), respectively, and neither variable elicited reliable main effects or interactions, all F(1,27) < 3.85, ps > .06, $\eta_p^2 < 0.13$.



Figure 5. Panel a depicts participant-specific median pre- and post-condition antisaccade reaction times (RT) for the active exercise (red), passive exercise (blue) and control (green) conditions (Pre- and post-conditions values are denoted via open and closed circle symbols, respectively). The solid black lines represent the group mean and associated 95% within-participant confidence intervals. Panel B shows RT difference scores (i.e., post-intervention minus pre-intervention) with error bars representing 95% between-participant confidence intervals, as well as the mean RT difference score (i.e., passive minus active) between passive and active exercise conditions.

2.5.4 Correlation of steady-state BV and antisaccade RT in active and passive exercise conditions

A Pearson r correlation for the active exercise condition indicated that steady- state BVs increased with decreasing post- exercise antisaccade RTs (p = .049), whereas for the passive condition the relationship approached – but did not attain – a conventional level of significance (p = .081).

2.6 Discussion

We sought to determine if passive exercise increases CBF and relates to a postexercise benefit to executive function, and we examined whether the magnitude of a putative exexecutive function benefit for passive exercise is comparable to active exercise. In outlining our findings, we first de-scribe results for the active exercise condition before turning to the hemodynamic and executive function findings in the passive exercise condition.

2.6.1 The metabolic demands of active exercise increase CBF and decrease antisaccade RTs

The active exercise condition entailed 20- min of volitional cycling and produced a baseline to steady- state increase in HR, blood pressure (systolic and diastolic) and BV. These findings correspond to the well- documented cardio- and neurovascular changes mediating the increased metabolic demands of active exercise (for re-views see Lavie et al., 2015; Smith & Ainslie, 2017). In line with these changes, the oculomotor assessment showed a postexercise reduction in antisaccade RTs. The decrease in antisaccade RTs cannot be attributed to a practice- related effect given that values in the non-exercise control condition did not vary from pre- to post-assessment. Moreover, that saccade duration and gain did not vary pre- to postexercise indicates that the RT reduction was unrelated to an explicit or implicit strategy designed to reduce planning times to enhance response accuracy (i.e., so- called speed- accuracy trade- off) (Fitts, 1954). Instead, the RT findings support a myriad of studies reporting that a single bout of active exercise elicits a short- term "boost" to executive function (for meta- analyses see Chang et al., 2012; Lambourne & Tomporowski, 2010; Ludyga et al., 2016; see also Renke et al., 2022). As well, the increase in BV during the active exercise condition – and not the nonexercise control condition – suggests that an exercise- mediated increase in CBF may support improved executive function (Kleinloog et al., 2019; Tari et al., 2020; for review of cerebral hypoperfusion and executive function see Poels et al., 2008). One issue to address in the active exercise condition is that the work- rate was set at a light intensity (i.e., 37 W). This is a notable because the inverted- U theory asserts that moderateintensity exercise benefits executive function, whereas light- and heavy- intensities elicit a smaller, null, or negative effect (see Chang et al., 2012; Chang & Etnier, 2009; Tsukamoto et al., 2017). In reconciling this issue, studies have typically used a percentage of participants' VO₂peak/max in determining intensity – a potential limitation given that $\dot{V}O_2$ and power output are not linearly related (for review Keir et al., 2018). As such, exercise intensity determined via a percentage of VO₂peak/max does not provide

participant-specific equivalence in determining a dose-response relationship across the continuum of metabolically sustainable work rates. More recent work by our group employed lactate thresh-old (LT) in determining participant-specific work rates across light- (i.e., 25 W), moderate- (80% of participant-specific LT), heavy- (15% of the difference between participants' estimated LT and VO₂peak) and very- heavy-(50% of the difference between participants' estimated LT and VO₂peak) intensity exercise. As expected, ventilatory (\dot{V}_E) and gas exchange ($\dot{V}O_2$, $\dot{V}CO_2$, PETCO₂) variables increased across the light- to very- heavy intensities, as did cortical hemodynamics measured via TCD and near- infrared spectroscopy (Heath et al., 2018; Petrella et al., 2019; Tari, Shirzad, Behboodpour, et al., 2021). Tari et al. reported that light-, moderate- and heavyintensity work rates produced an average baseline to steady-state increase in BV of 22 cm/s, 32 cm/s, and 46 cm/s, respectively. In spite of the scaling of BV to exercise intensity, null hypothesis, equivalence testing and Bayesian evaluation of the null hypothesis indicated that the magnitude of a postexercise benefit to antisaccade RTs did not vary with exercise intensity (see also Dirk et al., 2020; Heath et al., 2018; Petrella et al., 2019). Additionally, in the present work we used independent samples t- tests to contrast active exercise condition baseline to steady-state changes in BV and postexercise antisaccade RT difference scores to those reported in Tari, Shirzad, Behboodpour, et al.'s (2021) light- intensity condition. Results showed that between-experiment BV and RT values did not reliably differ (ts[42] = 0.94 and 1.45, ps = .37 and .14, dz = 0.28 and 0.46). In other words, findings evince that active light intensity exercise provides sufficient reactivity to elicit a consistent magnitude postexercise benefit to an oculomotor- based index of executive function.

2.6.2 Passive exercise increases CBF and decreases antisaccade RTs independent of task- based ventilatory and metabolic demands

The present work included a procedural validation to determine if the passive cycle ergometry used here resulted in volitional activation of agonist musculature and increased ventilatory and metabolic demands. As mentioned previously, we deemed the procedural validation as necessary given that some work has shown that passive exercise produces an early increase in ventilation and steady- state hyperpnea (e.g., Bell & Duffin, 2004). In

our passive exercise condition, EMG of the vastus lateralis (i.e., primary agonist in leg extension) did not show periodized activation during the extension phase of each pedal stroke and produced an activation pattern on par to the non- exercise control condition. As well, the passive exercise and control conditions did not elicit baseline to steady- state changes in $\dot{V}O_2$, $\dot{V}CO_2$, \dot{V}_E or heart rate. In contrast, the active exercise condition showed periodized activation of the vastus lateralis and this activation was associated with a robust increase in $\dot{V}O_2$, $\dot{V}CO_2$, \dot{V}_E , blood pressure and heart rate. The procedural validation therefore demonstrated that the passive exercise protocol (i.e., cycle ergometer with mechanical flywheel and metronome-specified cadence) provided a basis to evaluate whether a change in BV in-dependent of the metabolic demands of active exercise support a postexercise improvement in antisaccade RTs. In our main experiment, passive exercise and control condition interventions did not produce a change in heart rate or diastolic blood pressure, whereas in the active exercise condition the aforementioned values reliably increased from baseline to steady-state. It is, however, important to recognize that both active and passive exercise conditions – but not the control condition - produced a baseline to steady-state increase in BV; albeit the magnitude of the increase was larger in the active (25 cm/s) than passive (7 cm/s) exercise condition. The increased BV in the active exercise condition reflects increased volumetric CBF arising from increased O₂ delivery (Hoiland et al., 2019) and is a welldefined consequence of the metabolic demands of volitional muscle activation in continuous aerobic exercise (Smith & Ainslie, 2017). In turn, results for the passive exercise condition are in line with work showing that involuntary movement of the limbs results in an increase in CBF. For example, Nagaya et al. (2015) had participants complete 1- min sessions of active and passive (via clinician manipulation) ankle plantarand dorsiflexion and found that both conditions produced a baseline to steady-state increase in CBF with the magnitude of the increase being larger in the active condition. As well, Doering et al. (1998) showed that 20 s sessions of passive and active flexion/extension of the upper- and lower- limbs increased CBF (but see Sato et al., 2009). The basis for the increased CBF during passive exercise is thought to reflect: (1) increased discharge frequency of mechanosensitive Group III muscle afferents (so-called ergo receptors) that stimulate brain stem (Amann, 2012) and primary somatosensory

cortex (Gladwell & Coote, 2002) neurons supporting cerebral autoregulation, and (2) feedforward signals from primary and supplementary motor areas to the auto-nomic nervous system (Eldridge et al., 1985; Goodwin et al., 1972; Krogh & Lindhard, 1913; Matsukawa, 2012; Victor et al., 1995). In spite of the different mechanisms associated with the increase in CBF, both active and passive exercise conditions produced a pre- to postexercise decrease in antisaccade RTs with a larger magnitude re-duction in the former condition. As well, correlations indicated that steady-state BV related to the magnitude of active and passive condition post-exercise antisaccade RTs. As such, our results provide a first demonstration that passive exercise benefits an oculomotor- based index of executive function and evince that an increase in CBF independent of the metabolic costs of active exercise re-lates – and possibly contributes – to this improvement (i.e., the hemo- neural hypothesis: Moore & Cao, 2008). At least two issues require addressing. The first relates to the fact that passive exercise increased systolic blood pressure without concomitant changes in diastolic blood pressure, heart rate, gas exchange, and ventilatory measures. The basis for these results can be drawn from the socalled "muscle pump" effect wherein passive exercise increases venous return and increases stroke volume and cardiac output without influencing heart rate (Lujan & DiCarlo, 2014). The second issue relates to the larger postexercise reduction in antisaccade RTs in the active than passive exercise condition. This represents an unexpected finding given previous work by our group showing that intensity-specific modulations in an active exercise intervention do not impart additive CBF-executive function benefits (Tari, Shirzad, Behboodpour, et al., 2021). In considering this issue, we note that the change in BV for the passive exercise condition (7 cm/s) was smaller than that associated with the active exercise condition (25 cm/s), and the light- intensity condition (22 cm/s) used by Tari, Shirzad, Behboodpour, et al. (2021). Given these findings there may be a minimum threshold by which an increase in CBF imparts a nonadditive benefit to the oculomotor- based measure of executive function used here.

2.7 Study limitations

We recognize the present work is limited by a number of methodological constraints. First, we used a single active and passive exercise duration (i.e., 20- min) and evaluated postexercise executive function at one time point (i.e., immediately postexercise). As a result, it is unclear whether shorter or longer passive exercise durations similarly benefit antisaccade RTs, and it is entirely unclear for how long a passive exercise executive function benefit persists. Indeed, in active exercise, an executive function benefit can persist up to 60- min postexercise (Joyce et al., 2009; Hung et al., 2013; Shukla & Heath, 2021; but see Chang et al., 2012). Hence, it would be informative to examine whether a passive exercise benefit exhibits the same temporal persistence as its active exercise counterpart. Second, our results are specific to healthy young adults and cannot be directly extended to older populations or those with compromised CBF given that such groups exhibit distinct reactivity to active and passive exercise (McLeod & Stromhaug, 2017; see also, Ludyga et al., 2016). Third, a change in BV measured via TCD does not take into consideration vessel diameter. This represents a possible limitation because under specific physiological conditions the MCA is capable of dilation and constriction (Coverdale et al., 2015); however, to our knowledge such changes have not been shown to influence the validity of TCD in evaluating exercise- mediated MCA changes in BV. Fourth, a single bout postexercise benefit to executive function has not only been linked to increased CBF but also an increase in biomolecule concentrations (i.e., brain- derived neurotrophic fac-tor, catecholamines, serotonin) (Knaepen et al., 2010; Zouhal et al., 2008) and enhanced resting state functional connectivity within frontoparietal networks (e.g., Voss et al., 2010). Accordingly, we are unable to conclude directly that an increase in CBF selectively elicited the observed benefit to executive function following passive and active exercise. Regardless of the aforementioned limitations, we believe the present findings add importantly to the literature insomuch as they provide a first demonstration that a 20- min single bout of passive exercise increases CBF and improves an oculomotor- based measure of executive function in healthy young adults. Such results provide not only an improved direction for understanding the mechanism by which exercise benefit's executive function, but also supports a potential clinical understanding that individuals with reduced mobility (e.g., spinal cord injury) may accrue transient and additive benefits to brain health via passive exercise.

References

Amann, M. (2012). Significance of group III and IV muscle afferents for the endurance exercising human. *Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology and Physiology*, *39*(9), 831–835.

Asahara, R., & Matsukawa, K. (2018). Decreased prefrontal oxygenation elicited by stimulation of limb mechanosensitive afferents during cycling exercise. *American Journal of Physiology Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology, 315*(2), R230–R240.

Barella, L. A., Etnier, J. L., & Chang, Y. K. (2010). The immediate and delayed effects of an acute bout of exercise on cognitive performance of healthy older adults. *Journal of Aging and Physical Activity*, *18*(1), 87–98.

Bell, H. J., & Duffin, J. (2003). The respiratory response to passive limb movement is suppressed by a cognitive task. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 97(6), 2112–2120.

Bell, H. J., & Duffin, J. (2004). Rapid increases in ventilation accompany the transition from passive to active movement. *Respiratory Physiology & Neurobiology*, 152(2), 128–142.

Bell, H. J., & Duffin, J. (2006). Rapid increases in ventilation accompany the transition from passive to active movement. *Respiratory Physiology & Neurobiology*, *152*(2), 128–142.

Bell, H. J., Ramsaroop, D. M., & Duffin, J. (2003). The respiratory effects of two modes of passive exercise. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 88(6), 544–552.

Bertsch, K., Hagemann, D., Hermes, M., Walter, C., Khan, R., & Naumann, E. (2009). Resting cerebral blood flow, attention, and aging. *Brain Research*, *1267*, 77–88.

Bishop, C. C., Powell, S., Rutt, D., & Browse, N. L. (1986). Transcranial doppler measurement of middle cerebral artery blood flow velocity: A validation study. Stroke,

17(5), 913–915. https://doi. org/10.1161/01.STR.17.5.913 Brainard, D. H. (1997). The psychophysics toolbox. *Spatial Vision*, *10*(4), 433–436.

Chang, Y. K., & Etnier, J. L. (2009). Exploring the dose-response relationship between resistance exercise intensity and cognitive function. *Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, *31*(5), 640–656.

Chang, Y. K., Labban, J. D., Gapin, J. I., & Etnier, J. L. (2012). The effects of acute exercise on cognitive performance: A meta-analysis. *Brain Research*, *1453*, 87–101.

Clyde, B. L., Resnick, D. K., Yonas, H., Smith, H. A., & Kaufmann, A. M. (1996). The relationship of blood velocity as measured by transcranial doppler ultrasonography to cerebral blood flow determined by stable xenon computed tomographic as studies after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurosurgery*, *38*(5), 896–905.

Colcombe, S. J., Kramer, A. F., McAuley, E., Erickson, K. I., & Scalf, P. (2004). Neurocognitive aging and cardiovascular fitness. *Journal of Molecular Neuroscience*, 24(1), 9–14.

Cornelissen, F. W., Peters, E. M., & Palmer, J. (2002). The eye link toolbox: Eye tracking with MATLAB and the psychophysics toolbox. *Behavior Research Methods, Instruments, & Computers, 34*(4), 613–617.

Coverdale, N. S., Lalande, S., Perrotta, A., & Shoemaker, J. K. (2015). Heterogeneous patterns of vasoreactivity in the middle cerebral and internal carotid arteries. *American Journal of Physiology Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, *308*(9), H1030–H1038.

Cumming, G. (2014). The new statistics: Why and how. *Psychological Science*, 25(1), 7–29.

Dafoe, J. M., Armstrong, I. T., & Munoz, D. P. (2007). The influence of stimulus direction and eccentricity on pro-and anti-saccades in humans. *Experimental Brain Research*, *179*(4), 563–570.

DeSimone, J. C., Weiler, J., Aber, G. S., & Heath, M. (2014). The unidirectional prosaccade switch-cost: Correct and error antisaccades differentially influence the planning times for subsequent prosaccades. *Vision Research*, *96*, 17–24.

Diamond, A. (2013). Executive functions. Annual Review of Psychology, 64, 135–168.

Dirk, K. L., Belfry, G. R., & Heath, M. (2020). Exercise and executive function during follicular and luteal menstrual cycle phases. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, *52*(4), 919–927.

Doering, T. J., Resch, K. L., Steuernagel, B., Brix, J., Schneider, B., & Fischer, G. C. (1998). Passive and active exercise increases cerebral blood flow velocity in young, healthy individuals1. *American Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation*, 77(6), 490–493.

Doherty, C. J., Incognito, A. V., Notay, K., Burns, M. J., Slysz, J. T., Seed, J. D., Nardone, M., Burr, J. F., & Millar, P. J. (2018). Muscle sympathetic nerve responses to passive and active one-legged cycling: Insights into the contributions of central command. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, *314*(1), H3–H10.

Duschek, S., Hoffmann, A., Montoro, C. I., Del Paso, G. A. R., Schuepbach, D., & Ettinger, U. (2018). Cerebral blood flow modulations during preparatory attention and proactive inhibition. *Biological Psychology*, *137*, 65–72.

Eldridge, F. L., Millhorn, D. E., Killey, J. P., & Waldrop, T. G. (1985). Stimulation by central command of locomotion, respiration and circulation during exercise. *Respiration Physiology*, *59*(3), 313–337.

Everling, S., & Johnston, K. (2013). Control of the superior colliculus by the lateral prefrontal cortex. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, *Biological Sciences*, *368* (1628), 20130068.

Fischer, B., & Weber, H. (1992). Characteristics of "anti" saccades in man. Experimental *Brain Research*, *89*(2), 415–424.

Fitts, P. M. (1954). The information capacity of the human motor system in controlling the amplitude of movement. *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, *47*(6), 381–391.

Gillen, C., & Heath, M. (2014). Perceptual averaging governs anti-saccade endpoint bias. *Experimental Brain Research*, 232(10), 3201–3210.

Gladwell, V. F., & Coote, J. H. (2002). Heart rate at the onset of muscle contraction and during passive muscle stretch in humans: A role for mechanoreceptors. *The Journal of Physiology*, *540*(3), 1095–1102.

G. M., McCloskey, D. I., & Mitchell, J. H. (1972). Cardiovascular and respiratory responses to changes in central command during isometric exercise at constant muscle tension. *The Journal of Physiology*, 226(1), 173–190.

Hallett, P. E. (1978). Primary and secondary saccades to goals defined by instructions. *Vision Research*, *18*(10), 1279–1296.

Heath, M., Petrella, A., Blazevic, J., Lim, D., Pelletier, A., & Belfry, G. R. (2018). A post-exercise facilitation of executive function is independent of aerobically supported metabolic costs. *Neuropsychologia*, *120*, 65–74.

Heath, M., Weiler, J., Gregory, M. A., Gill, D. P., & Petrella, R. J. (2016). A six- month cognitive- motor and aerobic exercise program improves executive function in persons with an objective cognitive impairment: A pilot investigation using the antisaccade task. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, *54*(3), 923–931.

Hoiland, R. L., Fisher, J. A., & Ainslie, P. N. (2019). Regulation of the cerebral circulation by arterial carbon dioxide. *Comprehensive Physiology*, *9*(3), 1101–1154.

Hug, F., & Dorel, S. (2009). Electromyographic analysis of pedaling: A review. *Journal* of Electromyography and Kinesiology, 19(2), 182–198.

Hung, T. M., Tsai, C. L., Chen, F. T., Wang, C. C., & Chang, Y. K. (2013). The immediate and sustained effects of acute exercise on planning aspect of executive function. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, *14*(5), 728–736.

Ito, H., Kanno, I., Ibaraki, M., Hatazawa, J., & Miura, S. (2003). Changes in human cerebral blood flow and cerebral blood volume during hypercapnia and hypocapnia measured by positron emission tomography. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism*, 23(6), 665–670.

Joyce, J., Graydon, J., McMorris, T., & Davranche, K. (2009). The time course effect of moderate intensity exercise on response execution and response inhibition. *Brain and Cognition*, *71*(1), 14–19.

Keir, D. A., Paterson, D. H., Kowalchuk, J. M., & Murias, J. M. (2018). Using rampincremental V[•]O₂ responses for constant- intensity exercise selection. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism, 43*(9), 882–892.

Kety, S. S., & Schmidt, C. F. (1948). The nitrous oxide method for the quantitative determination of cerebral blood flow in man: Theory, procedure and normal values. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 27(4), 476–483.

Kleiner, M., Brainard, D., Pelli, D., Ingling, A., Murray, R., & Broussard, C. (2007). What's new in Psychtoolbox- 3. *Perception*, *36*, 1–16.

Kleinloog, J. P., Mensink, R. P., Ivanov, D., Adam, J. J., Uludağ, K., & Joris, P. J. (2019). Aerobic exercise training improves cerebral blood flow and executive function: A randomized, controlled cross-over trial in sedentary older men. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, *11*, 333.

Knaepen, K., Goekint, M., Heyman, E. M., & Meeusen, R. (2010). Neuroplasticity— Exercise- induced response of peripheral brain-derived neurotrophic factor. Sports *Medicine*, 40(9), 765–801.

Krogh, A., & Lindhard, J. (1913). The regulation of respiration and circulation during the initial stages of muscular work. *The Journal of Physiology*, 47(1-2), 112.

Lambourne, K., & Tomporowski, P. (2010). The effect of exercise- induced arousal on cognitive task performance: A meta- regression analysis. *Brain Research*, *1341*, 12–24.

Lavie, C. J., Arena, R., Swift, D. L., Johannsen, N. M., Sui, X., Lee, D. C., Earnest, C. P., Church, T. S., O'Keefe, J. H., Milani, R. V., & Blair, S. N. (2015). Exercise and the cardiovascular system: Clinical science and cardiovascular outcomes. *Circulation Research*, *117*(2), 207–219.

Ludyga, S., Gerber, M., Brand, S., Holsboer-Trachsler, E., & Pühse, U. (2016). Acute effects of moderate aerobic exercise on specific aspects of executive function in different age and fitness groups: A meta- analysis. *Psychophysiology*, *53*(11), 1611–1626.

Lujan, H. L., & DiCarlo, S. E. (2014). Increasing venous return as a strategy to prevent or reverse cardiac dysfunction following spinal cord injury. *The Journal of Physiology*, *592*(Pt 8), 1727.

Matsukawa, K. (2012). Central command: Control of cardiac sympathetic and vagal efferent nerve activity and the arterial baroreflex during spontaneous motor behaviour in animals. *Experimental Physiology*, *97*(1), 20–28.

Matteis, M., Vernieri, F., Troisi, E., Pasqualetti, P., Tibuzzi, F., Caltagirone, C., & Silvestrini, M. (2003). Early cerebral hemo-dynamic changes during passive movements and motor recovery after stroke. *Journal of Neurology*, *250*(7), 810–817.

McLeod, K. J., & Stromhaug, A. (2017). Reversal of cognitive impairment in a hypotensive elderly population using a passive exercise intervention. *Clinical Interventions in Aging*, *12*, 1859.

Miyake, A., Friedman, N. P., Emerson, M. J., Witzki, A. H., Howerter, A., & Wager, T. D. (2000). The unity and diversity of executive functions and their contributions to complex "frontal lobe" tasks: A latent variable analysis. *Cognitive Psychology*, *41*(1), 49–100.

Moore, C. I., & Cao, R. (2008). The hemoneural hypothesis: On the role of blood flow in information processing. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *99*(5), 2035–2047.

Munoz, D. P., & Everling, S. (2004). Look away: The anti-saccade task and the voluntary control of eye movement. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *5*(3), 218–228.

Nagaya, S., Hayashi, H., Fujimoto, E., Maruoka, N., & Kobayashi, H. (2015). Passive ankle movement increases cerebral blood oxy-genation in the elderly: An experimental study. *BMC Nursing*, *14*(1), 1–7.

Nobrega, A. C., & Araujo, C. G. (1993). Heart rate transient at the onset of active and passive dynamic exercise. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 25(1), 37–41.

Nobrega, A. C., Williamson, J. W., Friedman, D. B., Araujo, C. G., & Mitchell, J. H. (1994). Cardiovascular responses to active and passive cycling movements. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, *26*(6), 709–714.

Nurhayati, Y. A. T. I., & Boutcher, S. H. (1998). Cardiovascular re-sponse to passive cycle exercise. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, *30*(2), 234–238.

Petrella, A. F., Belfry, G., & Heath, M. (2019). Older adults elicit a single- bout postexercise executive benefit across a continuum of aerobically supported metabolic intensities. *Brain Research*, *1712*, 197–206.

Poels, M. M., Ikram, M. A., Vernooij, M. W., Krestin, G. P., Hofman, A., Messen, W. J., Van der Lugt, A., & Breteler, M. M. (2008). Total cerebral blood flow in relation to cognitive function: The Rotterdam scan study. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism*, 28(10), 1652–1655.

Raper, A. J., Kontos, H. A., & Patterson, J. L., Jr. (1971). Response of pial precapillary vessels to changes in arterial carbon dioxide tension. *Circulation Research*, 28(5), 518–523.

Renke, M. B., Marcinkowska, A. B., Kujach, S., & Winklewski, P. J. (2022). A systematic review of the impact of physical exercise- induced increased resting cerebral blood flow on cognitive functions. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, *14*, 803332.

Rosengarten, B., & Kaps, M. (2002). Peak systolic velocity doppler index reflects most appropriately the dynamic time course of intact cerebral autoregulation. *Cerebrovascular Diseases*, *13*(4), 230–234.

Samani, A., & Heath, M. (2018). Executive- related oculomotor control is improved following a 10- min single- bout of aerobic exercise: Evidence from the antisaccade task. *Neuropsychologia*, *108*, 73–81.

Sato, K., Moriyama, M., & Sadamoto, T. (2009). Influence of central command on cerebral blood flow at the onset of exercise in women. *Experimental Physiology*, *94*(11), 1139–1146.

Shim, C. Y., Park, S., Choi, E. Y., Hong, G. R., Choi, D., Jang, Y., & Chung, N. (2013). The relationship between ventricular-vascular uncoupling during exercise and impaired left ventricular longitudinal functional reserve in hypertensive patients. *Journal of the American Society of Hypertension*, *7*(3), 198–205.

Shukla, D., & Heath, M. (2022). A single bout of exercise provides a persistent benefit to cognitive flexibility. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*, *93*(3), 516-527.

Smith, K. J., & Ainslie, P. N. (2017). Regulation of cerebral blood flow and metabolism during exercise. *Experimental Physiology*, *102*(11), 1356–1371.

Takata, T., Yamabe, H., & Fukuzaki, H. (1990). The role of oxygen extraction in peripheral tissues in exercise capacity in chronic heart failure. *Japanese Journal of Medicine*, *29*(3), 266–273.

Tari, B., Shirzad, M., Badcock, N. A., Belfry, G. R., & Heath, M. (2021). "Delaying" a saccade: Preparatory phase cortical hemodynamics evince the neural cost of response inhibition. *Brain and Cognition*, *154*, 105808.

Tari, B., Shirzad, M., Behboodpour, N., Belfry, G. R., & Heath, M. (2021). Exercise intensity-specific changes to cerebral blood velocity do not modulate a postexercise executive function benefit. *Neuropsychologia*, *161*, 108018.

Tari, B., Vanhie, J. J., Belfry, G. R., Shoemaker, J. K., & Heath, M. (2020). Increased cerebral blood flow supports a single- bout postexercise benefit to executive function: Evidence from hypercapnia. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *124*(3), 930–940.

Terslev, L., Diamantopoulos, A. P., Døhn, U. M., Schmidt, W. A., & Torp- Pedersen, S. (2017). Settings and artefacts relevant for doppler ultrasound in large vessel vasculitis. *Arthritis Research & Therapy*, *19*(1), 1–10.

Trinity, J. D., & Richardson, R. S. (2019). Physiological impact and clinical relevance of passive exercise/movement. *Sports Medicine*, *49*(9), 1365–1381.

Tsukamoto, H., Takenaka, S., Suga, T., Tanaka, D., Takeuchi, T., Hamaoka, T., Isaka, T., & Hashimoto, T. (2017). Impact of exercise intensity and duration on postexercise executive function. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, *49*(4), 774–784.

Verburgh, L., Königs, M., Scherder, E. J., & Oosterlaan, J. (2014). Physical exercise and executive functions in preadolescent children, adolescents and young adults: A metaanalysis. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, *48*(12), 973–979.

Victor, R. G., Secher, N. H., Lyson, T., & Mitchell, J. H. (1995). Central command increases muscle sympathetic nerve activity during intense intermittent isometric exercise in humans. *Circulation Research*, *76*(1), 127–131.

Voss, M. W., Erickson, K. I., Prakash, R. S., Chaddock, L., Malkowski, E., Alves, H., Kim, J. S., Morris, K. S., White, S. M., Wójcicki, T. R., Hu, L., Szabo, A., Klamm, E., McAuley, E., & Kramer, A. F. (2010). Functional connectivity: A source of variance in the association between cardiorespiratory fitness and cognition? *Neuropsychologia*, *48*(5), 1394–1406.

Wenban-Smith, M. G., & Findlay, J. M. (1991). Express saccades: Is there a separate population in humans? *Experimental Brain Research*, 87(1), 218–222.

Zouhal, H., Jacob, C., Delamarche, P., & Gratas-Delamarche, A. (2008). Catecholamines and the effects of exercise, training, and gender. *Sports Medicine*, *38*(5), 401–423.

Chapter 3

3 Introduction

The earth's atmosphere contains a trace amount (0.03%) of carbon dioxide (CO₂), whereas space flight and space exploration are associated with increased levels due to weight and physical space limitations related to buffering excess environmental CO₂ (National Research Council, 2008). CO₂ concentrations aboard spacecraft and exploration vehicles are typically 0.5% with intermittent fluctuations of 0.2% occurring throughout the day (James, 2008), and a 2.0% concentration represents the Spacecraft Maximum Allow Concentration (SMAC) for acute (<1 h) exposure) (Law et al., 2010; Demontis et al., 2017). Notably, the regulation of a constant – and low-level – of CO_2 is important because changes in this compound are rapidly detected by aortic and carotid body chemoreceptors that elicit a cascade of physiological adaptations (e.g., increased ventilation) to increase the body's elimination of CO_2 (Marshall, 1994). Further, an increase in CO₂ is associated with systemic vasodilation and increased cerebral blood flow (CBF) (Raichle et al., 1970). As such, exposure to a higher-than-atmospheric concentration of CO₂ (i.e., hypercapnic environment) alters physiological homeostasis and some work has reported that it contributes to psychophysiological "space fog" adversely impacting cognition and psychomotor performance (Clément et al., 2020).

A limited number of terrestrial studies examined cognitive and psychomotor performance during and/or after participants' exposure to a hypercapnic environment. Satish et al. (2012) used the strategic management simulations (SMS) task to assess cognition prior to and concurrent (i.e., during the hypercapnic exposure) with a 2.5 h graded hypercapnic exposure (0.06, 0.10 and 0.25% CO₂). The SMS entails a number of simulation tasks (e.g., stepwise procedures required to deal with an emergency or management decision) and has been used to measure complex decision making and cognitive dysfunction following traumatic brain injury (e.g., Streufert et al., 1988). Satish et al. reported that increasing CO₂ levels were associated with diminished SMS task performance. As well, Allen et al. (2016) reported that in comparison to a baseline condition, chronic exposure (i.e., 6 days at 6-8 h/day) to 0.09% and 0.14% hypercapnic environments resulted in 15%

and 50% reductions, respectively, in concurrent SMS task performance. Accordingly, these studies demonstrate a dose-response relationship between CO_2 and concurrent cognitive impairment.

It is, however, important to recognize that not all work has reported a concurrent hypercapnic-based cognitive and/or psychomotor impairment. Rodeheffer et al.'s (2018) work involving submariners found that 80-min exposure to hypercaphic environments of 0.06%, 0.25% and 1.5% CO₂ did not impact SMS performance compared to baseline. The authors proposed that the null findings reflect a psychophysiological adaptation owing to submariners prolonged occupational exposure to a hypercapnic environment (i.e. submariners are typically deployed for a period of three months with CO_2 concentrations up to 0.5%). As well, Scully et al. (2019) recruited astronaut-like participants (i.e., individuals holding an advanced degree with > 1,000 hours of jet aircraft pilot-in-command time) and employed a 175-min exposure to 0.06%, 0.12%, 0.25%, and 0.50% hypercapnic environments. Cognitive and psychomotor skills were assessed via the SMS and a neurocognitive battery purpose-designed to evaluate cognitive skills in trained spaceflight crews (i.e., Cognition). Results indicated a null change between baseline and concurrent cognitive and psychomotor performance as assessed by both measures. Scully et al. proposed that the discrepancy in the hypercaphic literature may reflect test resolution in detecting subtle changes in cognitive and psychomotor performance. Accordingly, it was recommended that future work employ tasks providing a directed evaluation of cognition in a hypercapnic environment.

Executive function (EF) represents a high-level cognitive construct that includes the core components of inhibitory control, working memory and cognitive flexibility. EF tasks provide the resolution to identify subtle changes in brain-behaviour relations not available in neuropsychological batteries (Miyake et al., 2000; Diamond, 2013). For example, antisaccades represent an exemplar EF task requiring that an individual "look" (i.e., saccade) in a direction opposite an exogenously presented target. Antisaccades result in longer reaction times (RTs) (Hallett, 1978), increased directional errors (Fischer et al., 1997) and less accurate and more variable endpoints (Dafoe et al., 2007; Gillen & Heath, 2014) than their prosaccade (i.e., saccade to veridical target location) counterparts.

Extensive human neuroimaging and lesion studies, as well as and single-cell recording and transient cooling research in non-human primates, has reported that antisaccade behavioural 'costs' reflects the high-level operation of each core component of EF (for reviews see Munoz & Everling, 2004; Everling & Johnston, 2013). Work by our group employed the antisaccade task prior to (i.e., pre-) and immediately after (i.e., post-) healthy young adults were exposed to a 5% hypercapnic environment for 10-min and this performance was contrasted to pre- and post- measures of EF in a condition with an atmospheric concentration of CO_2 (i.e., normocapnic) (Tari et al., 2020). The basis for our group's manipulation was that: (1) a hypercapnic environment leads to a well-defined increase in CBF due to cerebrovascular dilation (for review, see Ogoh & Ainslie, 2009), and (2) a transient increase in CBF has been linked to a post-intervention improvement in the efficiency and effectiveness of EF networks (i.e., the hemo-neural hypothesis) (Moore & Cao, 2008). Our group used transcranial Doppler ultrasound (TCD) to measure middle cerebral artery velocity (i.e., MCAv) – a protocol Bishop et al. (1986) showed to provide a valid proxy for a direct measure of CBF. The hypercapnic environment produced an expected baseline to steady-state increase in MCAv (i.e., 21 cm/s) and produced a reliable pre- to post-intervention reduction in antisaccade RTs, whereas no such changes were associated with the normocapnic condition. In other words, a 5% hypercapnic environment resulted in a post-intervention improvement in an oculomotor index of EF and was a resulted interpreted to reflect that a short-term hypercapnic-based increase in CBF supports improved EF network efficiency and effectiveness.

Two notable limitations with generalizing our group's previous hypercapnic results (Ogoh & Ainslie, 2009) to extraterrestrial travel is that the protocol: (1) examined EF only after – and not concurrent – with the hypercapnic intervention, and (2) examined a CO₂ concentration (i.e., 5%) outside of the SMAC threshold (National Research Council, 2008). Accordingly, the present work employed a 10-min exposure to a 2.5% hypercapnic environment to provide a relative proxy to the SMAC threshold and evaluated EF – via the antisaccade task – pre-, concurrent, and post-intervention. In addition, EF was assessed at the same time points during a normocapnic (i.e., control) condition. For hypercapnic and control conditions, baseline and steady-state measures of CBF were estimated via TCD monitoring of MCAv. In terms of research predictions, if a

2.5% hypercapnic environment increases CBF, then a reduction in antisaccade RTs should be observed during concurrent and post-intervention assessments – a pattern of results in line with the hemo-neural hypothesis' assertion of a CBF-based improvement in EF network efficiency. In contrast, if the hypercapnic environment does not elicit a reliable increase in CBF – or does not elicit a CBF change of sufficient magnitude – then concurrent and post-intervention antisaccade RTs should be equivalent to their pre-intervention counterparts.

3.1 Methods

3.1.1 Participants

Fourteen (6 female, aged 19–25 years, average=23, SD=2) undergraduate and graduate students from the University of Western Ontario, volunteered for this study. Sample size was determined a priori based on an effect size $(d_z=0.65)$ associated with previous work reporting hypercaphic-based post-intervention reductions in antisaccade RTs ($\alpha = 0.05$, power = (0.90) (Tari et al., 2020). Participants reported normal or corrected-to-normal vision, self-reported being right-hand dominant, with no history of smoking and/or cardiorespiratory, metabolic, musculoskeletal, neurological, or neuropsychiatric disorder. Participants declared that they did not take medication impacting metabolic, cardiac, respiratory, or hemodynamic responses. Further, because fitness level influences cerebrovascular reactivity to CO₂ changes (Miyamura et al., 1990; Zhu et al., 2013), participants completed the Goldin Leisure Time Exercise Questionnaire (GLTEQ). The average score on the GLETQ was 85 (SD = 11; range = 69-102) and thus indicated that all participants were recreationally active. Participants refrained from alcohol and caffeine 12 h prior to any study intervention and reported 8 h of sleep on the night prior to each study intervention. Data collection took place between 9:30 am and 12:00 pm with participants in a hydrated state (i.e., 555 ml consumed 1-h in advance of data collection).

Prior to data collection, participants read a letter of information and provided informed written consent via a protocol approved by the Health Sciences Research Ethics Board, University of Western Ontario (#119678). This study conformed to the ethical standards of the most recent iteration of the Declaration of Helsinki with the exception that participants were not registered in a database.

3.1.2 Procedure and Apparatus

This study consisted of separate 10-min sessions involving hypercapnic (i.e., 2.5% CO₂, 21% O₂, 76.5% N₂) and normocapnic/control (i.e., 0.03% CO₂, 21% O₂, 78.97% N₂) conditions. The order of conditions was counterbalanced with each completed on a different day separated by at least 24 h. For each condition, participants were fitted with a face mask (7450 Series V2 Oro-Nasal Reusable Face Mask; Hans Rudolph, Shawnee, KS, USA) providing an airtight seal around the mouth and nose, VO_2 , CO_2 excretion VCO_2 , ventilatory V_E and end-tidal pressure end-tidal CO2: PETCO₂ were assessed via metabolic cart (CPET; Cosmed, Rome, Italy). Prior to data collection, the metabolic cart was calibrated according to the manufacturer's guidelines using room air and a precisionmixed cylinder of known concentrations, and turbine volume was calibrated with a syringe of known volume. The facemask was attached in series to a volume turbine and a non-rebreathing valve (Hans Rudolph). A 2-ft hose connected the inspiratory end of the non-rebreathing valve to a 3-way valve that was interfaced with a Douglas bag. The 3way valve permitted the rapid switching from room air to the Douglas bag which contained either a hypercapnic or normocapnic (control) gas mixture. When participants were comfortably seated and with the face mask fitted, they were instructed to breathe normally and were provided normocapnic gas for 10 min to establish a baseline. Following the 10-min baseline in the normocapnic condition, participants continued to inhale the normocaphic gas for an additional 10-min, whereas in the hypercaphic condition following baseline a two-way valve on the Douglas bag was adjusted to provide a 10-min hypercaphic environment. Following the intervention in both hypercapnic and control conditions, a further 10-min period involved breathing normocapnic gas (see Figure 1 for timeline of events).



Figure 6. The top panel (A) shows a timeline of the visual- and movement-related events for the antisaccade task. The bottom panel (B) shows the timing of the pre-, concurrentand post-intervention assessments in the hypercapnia condition. The control condition followed the same timing with the exception that participants were continuously exposed to a normocapnic environment. The panel shows that heart rate (HR) and blood pressure (BP) were measured at the start of each assessment window and that the antisaccade task was administered ~2 min following the onset of each assessment window. Transcranial Doppler ultrasound and the assessment of cardiorespiratory variables occurred continuously during each assessment window.

3.1.3 Cerebral hemodynamics

Prior to each condition, a TCD probe (Neurovision 500 M, Neurovision TOC2M; Multigon Industries, Elmsford, CA) coated in an aqueous ultrasound gel (Aquasonic Clear, Parker Laboratories Inc., Fairfield, NJ) was secured to participants' left anterior temporal window via an adjustable headband. The TCD probe was used to continuously measure MCAv during each of the pre-intervention, concurrent, and post-intervention assessments.

3.1.4 Cardiovascular variables

Figure 1 shows that heart rate was taken at pre-intervention, concurrent, and postintervention time points (i.e., 2, 12, and 22 min) via a heart rate monitor (Polar Electro T34, Kempele, Finland). Blood pressure was taken at the same time points via manual sphygmomanometer and stethoscope (Welch Allyn FlexiPort reusable blood pressure cuff; Welch Allyn Inc. Skaneateles Falls, NY, USA) secured to participants' left upper arm.

3.1.5 Oculomotor executive function

Participants sat on and adjustable chair in front of a table on which an LCD monitor (60 Hz, 8-ms response rate, 1280×960 pixels; Dell 3007WFP, Round Rock, TX) was located 550 mm from the table's front edge. Participants placed their head in a head-chin rest and the gaze location of their left eye was tracked via a video-based eye tracking system (EyeLink 1000 Plus; SR Research, Ottawa, ON, Canada) sampling at 1000 Hz. Prior to data collection, a nine-point calibration and validation were completed (i.e., <1° of error). All experimental events were controlled via MATLAB (R2018a; The MathWorks, Natick, MA, USA) and the Psychophysics Toolbox extensions (v. 3.0) (Brainard, 1997; Kleiner, 2007) including the EyeLink Toolbox (Cornelissen et al., 2002). The lights in the experimental suite were extinguished during data collection.

Visual stimuli were presented on a black screen (0.1 cd/m2) and included a midlinelocated fixation cross (1°: 50 cd/m2) presented at participants' eye level and targets (i.e., open circle; 2.5° in diameter: 127 cd/m2) located 15° (i.e., proximal target) and 20° (i.e., distal target) to the left and right of fixation and in the same horizontal plane. Fixation onset signaled participants to direct their gaze to its location. Once a stable gaze was achieved (i.e., $\pm 1.5^{\circ}$ for 450 ms), a uniformly distributed randomized foreperiod (1000– 2000 ms) was introduced after which the fixation disappeared and a target appeared 200 ms thereafter (i.e., gap paradigm) (Figure 1). Target onset cued participants to saccade mirror-symmetrical to the target location (i.e., antisaccade) as "quickly and accurately as possible". The oculomotor assessment was completed prior to (i.e., preintervention), during (i.e., concurrent) and immediately following (i.e., post-intervention) each of the hypercapnic and control conditions. For each oculomotor assessment, 30 trials to each target location (i.e., left, and right visual field) and eccentricity (i.e., proximal, and distal) were randomly presented (i.e., 120 total trials). Each oculomotor assessment required approximately seven minutes to complete.

3.1.6 Data reduction and dependent variables

For ventilatory measures, data points +3 standard deviations from a participant-specific mean were removed (Lamarra et al., 1987) and data were linearly interpolated on a second-by-second basis, time-aligned to the onset of an experimental session and averaged into 5 s bins (Keir et al., 2015). For TCD, data corrupted by signal aliasing and/or signal loss (e.g., a sudden head shift) were omitted (Terslev et al., 2017).

For the oculomotor task, gaze position data were filtered offline using a dual-pass Butterworth filter with a low-pass cutoff frequency of 15 Hz and instantaneous velocities were computed via a five-point central finite difference algorithm. Acceleration data were similarly obtained from the velocity. Saccade onset was marked when velocity and acceleration exceeded 30°/s and 8,000°/s2, respectively. Saccade offset was marked when saccade velocity was below 30°/s for 40 ms. Trials involving signal loss (e.g., eye blink) were excluded as were trials with an amplitude less than 2° (Weiler & Heath, 2014) and or a RT less than 50 ms or +3 standard deviations from a participant-specific mean (Wenban-Smith, 1991). Less than 5% of trials were removed for any participant.

Dependent variables for physiological measures included O₂ consumption ($\dot{V}O_2$), CO₂ output ($\dot{V}CO_2$), ventilation (\dot{V}_E), end-tidal CO₂ (PETCO₂), heart rate, blood pressure and MCAv. MCAv was determined by averaging peak systolic MCAv for the final minute of each assessment window (i.e., pre-intervention, concurrent, and postintervention), whereas $\dot{V}O_2$, $\dot{V}CO_2$, \dot{V}_E , PETCO₂ were evaluated across the last five minutes of each assessment window (Figure 1). Oculomotor dependent variables included RT (i.e., time from response cueing to saccade onset), saccade duration (i.e., time from saccade onset to offset) and saccade gain (i.e., saccade amplitude/veridical target location)
Each dependent variable was analyzed via 2 (condition: hypercapnic, control) by 3 (time: pre-intervention, concurrent, post-intervention) fully repeated measures ANOVA ($\alpha = 0.05$). Appropriate main effects and interactions were decomposed via simple effects. Where appropriate, the two one-sided test (TOST) statistic ($d_z = 0.61$) was used to determine if results were within an equivalence boundary (Lakens et al., 2018).

3.2 Results

3.2.1 Ventilatory variables

Figure 7 presents an exemplar participant's \dot{V}_E and PETCO₂ as a function of time across each assessment interval. The figure demonstrates that onset of the hypercapnic condition produced an immediate increase in both measures. Quantitative analyses indicated that \dot{V}_E and PETCO₂ produced main effects for condition, $Fs(_{1,13})=21.40$ and 139.63 for \dot{V}_E and PETCO₂, respectively, ps<.001, η_p^2 =0.64 and 0.92, time, $Fs(_{2,26})=52.83$ and 6.41, ps<.001 and .006, $\eta_p^2=0.81$ and 0.34, and condition by time interactions, $Fs(_{2,26})=13.44$ and 8.60, ps<.001 and .002, $\eta_{p}^{2}=0.52$ and 0.41. To decompose the interactions, we computed \dot{V}_E and PETCO₂ difference scores separately for hypercapnic and control conditions by contrasting: (1) concurrent minus preintervention, and (2) post-intervention minus pre-intervention. Difference scores were subsequently contrasted to a value of zero via single-sample t-statistics. For the control condition, \dot{V}_E and PETCO₂ difference scores did not differ from zero (ts(13)<1.77, ps>.10, all $d_z < 0.47$). For the hypercapnic condition, Figure 7 shows that \dot{V}_E and PETCO₂ difference scores contrasting the concurrent and pre-intervention time points differed from zero (t(13)>9.60, ps<.001, all $d_z>2.48$), whereas difference scores contrasting postand pre-intervention values did not (ts(13) < 0.57, ps > .58, all $d_z < 0.16$). In other words, onset of the hypercapnic condition increased \dot{V}_E and PETCO₂ with values returning to baseline upon condition cessation.

VCO₂ and VO₂ did not produce reliable main effects for **condition**, $Fs_{(1,13)} < 3.25$, ps > .097, $\eta_p^2 < 0.21$, **time**, $Fs_{(2,26)} < 2.69$, ps > .088, $\eta_p^2 < 0.184$ nor their interactions, $Fs_{(2,26)} < 2.86$, ps > .077,

 $\eta_p^2 < 0.19$



Figure 7. The top left and right panels present an exemplar participant's \dot{V}_E and PETCO₂, respectively, throughout the pre-intervention (Pre), concurrent (Conc) and postintervention (Post) assessment windows for the control (red line and symbols) and hypercapnic (blue line and symbols) conditions. The panels show that values for both variables rapidly increased with onset of the hypercapnic condition and rapidly returned to baseline with cessation of the hypercapnic environment. The bottom left and right panels show participant-specific and group mean \dot{V}_E and PETCO₂, respectively, for control (blue bars and symbols) and hypercapnic (red bars and symbols) conditions at each assessment window with the smaller offset panel showing group mean \dot{V}_E and PETCO₂ difference scores (concurrent minus pre-intervention, post-intervention minus pre-intervention) – and associated 95% between-participant confidence intervals – for control and hypercapnic conditions. For the smaller offset panels, the absence of overlap between the error bar and zero (i.e., horizontal dashed line) represents a reliable difference inclusive to a test of the null hypothesis.

3.2.2 Hemodynamic variables

Heart rate, systolic and diastolic blood pressure did not produce main effects for condition, $Fs(_{1,13})<1.63$, ps>.224, $\eta_p^2<0.11$, time, $Fs(_{2,26})<2.59$, ps>.094, $\eta_p^2<0.17$ nor their interactions, $Fs(_{2,26})<2.07$, ps>.146, $\eta_p^2<0.14$. In contrast, MCAv produced a main effect of time, $F(_{2,26})=6.12$, p = .007, $\eta_p^2 = 0.32$, and a condition by time interaction, $F(_{2,26})=5.17$, p=.013, $\eta_p^2=0.29$. **Figure 8** shows and exemplar participant's MCAv in control and hypercapnic conditions as a function of assessment window. The figure shows that MCAv in the hypercapnic – but not control – condition increased rapidly to the onset of the hypercapnic environment and then decreased to pre-intervention levels following condition cessation (i.e., post-intervention). In line with \dot{V}_E and PETCO₂, the MCAv interaction was decomposed via difference scores and indicated that control condition values did not reliably differ from zero (ts(13<0.62, ps>.54, $d_z<0.17$). For the hypercapnic condition, difference scores contrasting concurrent and pre-intervention time points differed from zero (ts(13)=3.19, p=.007, $d_z=0.85$), whereas pre- and post-intervention values did not (ts(13)=0.27, p=.78, $d_z=0.07$).



Figure 8. The top panel represents participant's mean middle cerebral artery velocity throughout the pre-intervention (Pre), concurrent (Conc) and post-intervention (Post) assessment windows for the control (red line and symbols) and hypercapnic (blue line and symbols) conditions. The bottom left panel shows participant-specific and group mean MCAv for control (red line and symbols) and hypercapnic (blue line and symbols) conditions as a function of each assessment interval with the bottom right panel showing group mean MCAv difference scores (concurrent minus pre-intervention, post-intervention minus pre-intervention) – and associated 95% between-participant confidence intervals.

3.2.3 Executive Function

Figure 9 presents antisaccade RT frequency histograms for hypercapnic and control conditions across each assessment interval and Kolmogorov-Smirnov tests indicated that pre- and concurrent (Ds<.041, p>.36) and pre- and post-intervention (Ds<.036, p>.28) distributions did not reliably differ. The evaluation of RT means did not yield main

effects for condition, $F(_{1,13})=0.01$, p=.90, $\eta_p^2 < 0.01$, time, $F(_{2,26})=0.34$, p=.71, $\eta_p^2=0.02$, nor their interaction, $F(_{2,26})=0.39$, p=.67, $\eta_p^2=0.03$). Moreover, TOST statistics indicated that hypercapnic condition RTs for concurrent and pre-intervention (t(13)=2.22, p=.023) and post-intervention and pre-intervention (t(13)=2.24, p=.022, d_z=0.01) were within an equivalence boundary. In other words, results provide no evidence that the hypercapnic environment produced a concurrent or post-intervention change in EF. The grand means for saccade duration and gain variability were 70 ms (SD=25) and 0.78 (SD=0.29), respectively, and neither variable produced significant main effects for

condition, $Fs(_{1,13}) < 1.19$, ps > .24, $\eta_p^2 < 0.04$, time, $Fs(_{2,26}) < 0.68$, ps > .50, $\eta_p^2 < .18$) nor their interactions, $Fs(_{2,26}) < 0.60$, ps > .055, $\eta_p^2 < .13$.



Figure 9. Antisaccade reaction time (ms) percent frequency histograms for control (blue) and hypercapnic (red) conditions as a function of each assessment window. Distribution summary statistics are presented in a textbox within each histogram.

3.2.4 Relationship between MCAv and antisaccade RT difference scores

We correlated MCAv difference scores (concurrent minus pre-intervention) and associated antisaccade RT difference scores at concurrent (i.e., concurrent minus pre-intervention) and post-intervention (i.e., post-intervention minus pre-intervention). Results showed that the variables were not reliably related at either assessment window (rs<.261, ps>.70).

3.3 Discussion

We examined whether a 10 min exposure to a 2.5% hypercapnic environment increases CBF and produces a concurrent and/or post-intervention EF benefit. In outlining our findings, we first discuss the physiological (i.e., ventilatory, cardiorespiratory and cerebral hemodynamic) changes associated with the hypercapnic condition before outlining our EF findings.

3.3.1 Ventilation and cerebral hemodynamic changes in response to a 2.5% hypercaphic environment

As expected, the control condition did not alter ventilatory variables; however, the hypercapnic condition produced a pre-intervention to concurrent increase in \dot{V}_E and PETCO₂. This well-documented finding reflects chemoreceptor-induced changes in minute ventilation (Duffin, 2005) initiated by central and peripheral chemoreceptors to express excess CO₂ and prevent a further decrease in blood pH (Ainslie & Duffin, 2009; McBryde, et al., 2017; Smith et al., 2017).

Control and hypercapnic conditions did not alter heart rate, systolic or diastolic blood pressure and is a finding in keeping with reports that PETCO₂ concentrations less than 40 mmHg – as was observed here (see **Figure 7**) – do not alter these physiological variables. In addition, that $\dot{V}O_2$ or $\dot{V}CO_2$ were not influenced by the hypercapnic environment was expected given that we did not manipulate O₂ concentrations or provoke metabolic CO₂ production (Edelman et al., 1973). In terms of MCAv, results showed that control condition values did not vary across any assessment interval; however, in the hypercapnic condition a 7 cm/s increase was noted from the preintervention to concurrent intervention assessment window. At the hypercapnic condition post-intervention assessment, MCAv values returned to pre-intervention levels. The hypercapnic-based increase in MCAv has been linked to a CO₂-based decrease in pH and an associated increase in cerebral vasodilation and volumetric flow (Brian, 1988; Kaufman et al., 2012). Accordingly, the combined PETCO₂ and MCAv findings reported here evince a well-defined physiological response to a hypercapnic environment and provide a platform to evaluate whether increased CBF influences concurrent and postintervention EF.

3.3.2 Concurrent and post-intervention EF in a 2.5% hypercaphic environment

The antisaccade paradigm has been shown to provide the requisite resolution to detect subtle EF deficits not quantified by neuropsychological tests batteries (Kaufman et al., 2012; Peltsch et al., 2014; Webb et al., 2018). Moreover, the antisaccade paradigm provides a reliable framework to identify EF improvements following single bouts of aerobic exercise for as brief as 10-min and involving a continuum (i.e., very light to very heavy) of exercise intensities (Samani & Heath, 2018; Tari et al., 2021). This benefit has been linked – in part – to an exercise-based increase in CBF that improves the efficiency of EF networks (Shirzad et al., 2022; Tari et al., 2023). In the present study, hypercapnic and control conditions did not yield a pre-intervention to concurrent, or baseline to postintervention, change in antisaccade RTs or their distributions and is a result supported by null hypothesis and equivalence tests. Thus, the combined null hypothesis and equivalence tests indicates that the absence of an RT difference cannot be attributed to an inadequate replication sample size (Lakens et al., 2018). Further, saccade duration and gain variability did not vary across hypercapnic and control conditions and indicates that participants did not engage in distinct planning strategies (i.e., speed-accuracy trade-off) (Fitts, 1954) across the different experimental conditions used here. Instead, results evince that a hypercapnic environment (i.e., concurrent and post-intervention) did not alter and oculomotor index of EF.

The null concurrent and post-intervention EF change in the hypercapnic condition counters our predictions derived from previous exercise (e.g., Heath et al., 2018; Petrella et al., 2019; Dirk et al., 2020) and hypercapnia (Tari et al., 2020) work. Indeed, Tari et al. (2020) reported that a 10-min exposure to a 5% hypercapnic environment increased

MCAv and produced a post-intervention decrease in antisaccade RTs commensurate to an exercise intervention involving a comparable MCAv increase. It is, however, important to recognize that the increase in MCAv reported by Tari and colleagues was larger (21cm/s, CI_{95%}=7) than that observed here (7cm/s, CI_{95%}=4). As a result, the absence of concurrent and post-intervention changes in antisaccade RTs may reflect an inadequate increase in CBF due to the use of a lower (i.e., 2.5%) CO₂ concentration. Moreover, that our hypercapnic environment did not impact concurrent EF is comparable to some work assessing a broader spectrum of cognition (i.e., SMS, *Cognition*) (Rodeheffer et al., 2018; Scully et al., 2019). Importantly, we believe the present results add importantly to the literature insomuch as they demonstrate that EF is not adversely impacted – or improved – *during* and *following* transient (10-min) exposure to a 2.5% hypercapnic environment.

3.3.3 Limitations and Future directions

We recognize that our study is limited by several methodological traits. First, we employed a 10 min hypercaphic exposure at a fixed CO_2 concentration of 2.5%. Hence, it is unclear whether longer and/or increased CO₂ concentrations may differentially impact concurrent and post-intervention EF. That said, the present results provide a direct demonstration that exposure to a 2.5% CO₂ concentration does not impact EF. Second, TCD was used to measure MCAv and estimate a hypercapnic-based increase in CBF. This is a salient consideration because TCD does not quantify changes in arterial diameter and has been shown to underestimate CBF during hypercapnia (Coverdale et al., 2015). Regardless of this limitation, the combined MCAv, \dot{V}_E and PETCO₂ findings reported here evince a well-documented cerebrovascular response to a hypercapnic stressor. Third, all participants were young healthy adults, and it is therefore not possible to generalize our findings to older adults given age-related reductions in cerebrovascular compliance and CO₂ reactivity (Maeda et al., 1993; Riecker et al., 2003; Glodzik et al., 2013). Last, we did not provide a direct measure of cardiovascular fitness (i.e., VO_{2peak}) - a measure known to influence CO₂ cerebrovascular reactivity and CBF-based changes to EF. Future work by our group seeks to evaluate this issue via examining EF responses to a hypercapnic environment among low- and high-fit individuals.

3.4 Conclusion

The present research demonstrated that exposure to a 2.5% hypercapnic environment produced a rapid increase in CBF that returned to baseline following cessation of the stressor. Notably, however, concurrent and post-intervention antisaccade performance was refractory of the hypercapnic environment. These results indicate that transient exposure to a 2.5% CO₂ environment during space and other exploration challenges, does not impact EF efficiency or effectiveness.

- Ainslie, P. N., & Duffin, J. (2009). Integration of cerebrovascular CO2 reactivity and chemoreflex control of breathing: mechanisms of regulation, measurement, and interpretation. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 296(5), 1473–1495.
- Allen, J. G., MacNaughton, P., Satish, U., Santanam, S., Vallarino, J., & Spengler, J. D. (2016). Associations of cognitive function scores with carbon dioxide, ventilation, and volatile organic compound exposures in office workers: a controlled exposure study of green and conventional office environments. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 124(6), 805–812.
- Barber, A. D., John, M., DeRosse, P., Birnbaum, M. L., Lencz, T., & Malhotra, A. K. (2020). Parasympathetic arousal-related cortical activity is associated with attention during cognitive task performance. NeuroImage, 208, 116469.
- Bishop, C. C., Powell, S., Rutt, D., & Browse, N. L. (1986). Transcranial doppler measurement of middle cerebral artery blood flow velocity: A validation study. *Stroke*, 17(5), 913–915.
- Brainard, D. H. (1997). The psychophysics toolbox. Spatial Vision, 10(4), 433-436.
- Brian, J. E. (1998). Carbon dioxide and the cerebral circulation. *The Journal of the American Society of Anesthesiologists*, 88(5), 1365–1386.
- Clément, G. R., Boyle, R. D., George, K. A., Nelson, G. A., Reschke, M. F., Williams, T. J., & Paloski, W. H. (2020). Challenges to the central nervous system during human spaceflight missions to Mars. *Journal of neurophysiology*, *123*(5), 2037–2063.
- Cornelissen, F. W., Peters, E. M., & Palmer, J. (2002). The eyelink toolbox: Eye tracking with MATLAB and the psychophysics toolbox. *Behavior Research Methods*, *Instruments*, & Computers, 34(4), 613–617.

- Coverdale, N. S., Lalande, S., Perrotta, A., & Shoemaker, J. K. (2015). Heterogeneous patterns of vasoreactivity in the middle cerebral and internal carotid arteries. *American Journal of Physiology Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 308(9), H1030–H1038.
- Dafoe, J. M., Armstrong, I. T., & Munoz, D. P. (2007). The influence of stimulus direction and eccentricity on pro-and anti-saccades in humans. *Experimental Brain Research*, 179(4), 563–570.
- Demontis, G. C., Germani, M. M., Caiani, E. G., Barravecchia, I., Passino, C., & Angeloni, D. (2017). Human pathophysiological adaptations to the space environment. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 8, 547.
- Diamond, A. (2013). Executive functions. Annual Review of Psychology, 64, 135–168.
- Dirk, K. L., Belfry, G. R., & Heath, M. (2020). Exercise and executive function during follicular and luteal menstrual cycle phases. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 52(4), 919–927.
- Duffin, J. (2005). Role of acid-base balance in the chemoreflex control of breathing. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 99(6), 2255–2265.
- Edelman, N. H., Epstein, P. E., Lahiri, S., & Cherniack, N. S. (1973). Ventilatory responses to transient hypoxia and hypercapnia in man. *Respiration physiology*, 17(3), 302–314.
- Everling, S., & Johnston, K. (2013). Control of the superior colliculus by the lateral prefrontal cortex. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London*. *Series B, Biological Sciences*, 368(1628), 20130068.
- Fischer, B., & Weber, H. (1997). Effects of stimulus conditions on the performance of antisaccades in man. *Experimental Brain Research*, *116*, 191–200.

- Fitts, P. M. (1954). The information capacity of the human motor system in controlling the amplitude of movement. *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 47(6), 381– 391.
- Fortune, J. B., Bock, D. E. V. O. N., Kupinski, A. M., Stratton, H. H., Shah, D. M., & Feustel, P. J. (1992). Human cerebrovascular response to oxygen and carbon dioxide as determined by internal carotid artery duplex scanning. *The Journal of Trauma*, 32(5), 618–27.
- Gillen, C., & Heath, M. (2014). Target frequency influences antisaccade endpoint bias: Evidence for perceptual averaging. *Vision Research*, *105*, 151–158.
- Glodzik, L., Randall, C., Rusinek, H., & de Leon, M. J. (2013). Cerebrovascular reactivity to carbon dioxide in Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 35(3), 427–440.
- Hallett, P. E. (1978). Primary and secondary saccades to goals defined by instructions. *Vision Research*, *18*(10), 1279–1296.
- Heath, M., Petrella, A., Blazevic, J., Lim, D., Pelletier, A., & Belfry, G. R. (2018). A post-exercise facilitation of executive function is independent of aerobically supported metabolic costs. *Neuropsychologia*, 120, 65–74.
- James, J. T. (2008). The headache of carbon dioxide exposures. *SAE Transactions*, *116*, 411–416.
- Kaufman, L. D., Pratt, J., Levine, B., & Black, S. E. (2012). Executive deficits detected in mild Alzheimer's disease using the antisaccade task. *Brain and behavior*, 2(1), 15–21.
- Keir, D. A., Fontana, F. Y., Robertson, T. C., Murias, J. M., Paterson, D. H., Kowalchuk, J. M., & Pogliaghi, S. (2015). Exercise intensity thresholds: identifying the boundaries of sustainable performance. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 47(9), 1932–1940.

- Kleiner, M., Brainard, D., Pelli, D., Ingling, A., Murray, R., & Broussard, C. (2007).What's new in Psychtoolbox-3. *Perception*, 36, 1–16.
- Lakens, D., Scheel, A. M., & Isager, P. M. (2018). Equivalence testing for psychological research: A tutorial. Advances in Methods and Practices in Psychological Science, 1(2), 259–269.
- Lamarra, N., Whipp, B. J., Ward, S. A., & Wasserman, K. (1987). Effect of interbreath fluctuations on characterizing exercise gas exchange kinetics. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 62(5), 2003–2012.
- Law, J., Watkins, S., & Alexander, D. (2010). In-flight carbon dioxide exposures and related symptoms: Association, susceptibility, and operational implications. NASA technical paper, 216126.
- Maeda, H., Matsumoto, M., Handa, N., Hougaku, H., Ogawa, S., Itoh, T., Tsukamoto, Y. and Kamada, T. (1993). Reactivity of cerebral blood flow to carbon dioxide in various types of ischemic cerebrovascular disease: evaluation by the transcranial Doppler method. *Stroke*, 24(5), 670–675.
- Marshall, J. M. (1994). Peripheral chemoreceptors and cardiovascular regulation. *Physiological Reviews*, 74(3), 543–594.
- McBryde, F. D., Malpas, S. C., & Paton, J. F. R. (2017). Intracranial mechanisms for preserving brain blood flow in health and disease. *Acta Physiologica*, 219(1), 274–287.
- Miyake, A., Friedman, N. P., Emerson, M. J., Witzki, A. H., Howerter, A., & Wager, T. D. (2000). The unity and diversity of executive functions and their contributions to complex "frontal lobe" tasks: A latent variable analysis. *Cognitive Psychology*, *41*(1), 49–100.
- Miyamura, M., & Ishida, K. (1990). Adaptive changes in hypercapnic ventilatory response during training and detraining. *European Journal of Applied Physiology* and Occupational Physiology, 60(5), 353–359.

- Moore, C. I., & Cao, R. (2008). The hemo-neural hypothesis: On the role of blood flow in information processing. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 99(5), 2035–2047.
- Morita, Y., & Bouskela, E. (1994). Influence of cerebrovascular parasympathetic nerves on resting cerebral blood flow, spontaneous vasomotion, autoregulation, hypercapnic vasodilation and sympathetic vasoconstriction. Journal of the autonomic nervous system, 49, 9-14.
- Munoz, D. P., & Everling, S. (2004). Look away: The anti-saccade task and the voluntary control of eye movement. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *5*(3), 218–228.
- National Research Council. (2008). Spacecraft Maximum Allowable Concentrations for Selected Airborne Contaminants: Volume 5 (Vol. 5). National Academies Press.
- Ogoh, S., & Ainslie, P. N. (2009). Cerebral blood flow during exercise: mechanisms of regulation. *Journal of applied physiology*, 107(5), 1370–1380.
- Peltsch, A., Hemraj, A., Garcia, A., & Munoz, D. P. (2014). Saccade deficits in amnestic mild cognitive impairment resemble mild Alzheimer's disease. *European Journal* of Neuroscience, 39(11), 2000–2013.
- Petrella, A. F., Belfry, G., & Heath, M. (2019). Older adults elicit a single-bout postexercise executive benefit across a continuum of aerobically supported metabolic intensities. *Brain Research*, 1712, 197–206.
- Raichle, M. E., Posner, J. B., & Plum, F. (1970). Cerebral blood flow during. Archives of Neurology, 23(5), 394–403.
- Riecker, A., Grodd, W., Klose, U., Schulz, J.B., Gröschel, K., Erb, M., Ackermann, H. and Kastrup, A. (2003). Relation between regional functional MRI activation and vascular reactivity to carbon dioxide during normal aging. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism*, 23(5), 565–573.

- Rodeheffer, C. D., Chabal, S., Clarke, J. M., & Fothergill, D. M. (2018). Acute exposure to low-to-moderate carbon dioxide levels and submariner decision making. *Aerospace Medicine and Human Performance*, 89(6), 520–525.
- Samani, A., & Heath, M. (2018). Executive-related oculomotor control is improved following a 10-min single-bout of aerobic exercise: Evidence from the antisaccade task. *Neuropsychologia*, 108, 73–81.
- Satish, U., Mendell, M. J., Shekhar, K., Hotchi, T., Sullivan, D., Streufert, S., & Fisk, W. J. (2012). Is CO2 an indoor pollutant? Direct effects of low-to-moderate CO2 concentrations on human decision-making performance. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *120*(12), 1671–1677. https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP.1104789
- Scully, R. R., Basner, M., Nasrini, J., Lam, C. W., Hermosillo, E., Gur, R. C., Moore, T., Alexander, D. J., Satish, U. & Ryder, V. E. (2019). Effects of acute exposures to carbon dioxide on decision making and cognition in astronaut-like subjects. *NPJ Microgravity*, 5(1), 17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/S41526-019-0071-6</u>
- Shirzad, M., Tari, B., Dalton, C., Van Riesen, J., Marsala, M. J., & Heath, M. (2022).
 Passive exercise increases cerebral blood flow velocity and supports a postexercise executive function benefit. *Psychophysiology*, 59(12), e14132.
- Smith, K. J., & Ainslie, P. N. (2017). Regulation of cerebral blood flow and metabolism during exercise. *Experimental Physiology*, 102(11), 1356–1371.
- Streufert, S., Pogash, R., & Piasecki, M. (1988). Simulation-based assessment of managerial competence: Reliability and validity. *Personnel Psychology*, 41(3), 537–557.
- Tari, B., Ahn, J., Dalton, C., Choo, S. Y., & Heath, M. (2023). Cerebral blood flow and immediate and sustained executive function benefits following single bouts of passive and active exercise. *Brain and Cognition*, 166, 105953.

- Tari, B., Shirzad, M., Behboodpour, N., Belfry, G. R., & Heath, M. (2021). Exercise intensity-specific changes to cerebral blood velocity do not modulate a postexercise executive function benefit. *Neuropsychologia*, 161, 108018.
- Tari, B., Vanhie, J. J., Belfry, G. R., Shoemaker, J. K., & Heath, M. (2020). Increased cerebral blood flow supports a single-bout postexercise benefit to executive function: Evidence from hypercapnia. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 124(3), 930– 940.
- Terslev, L., Diamantopoulos, A. P., Døhn, U. M., Schmidt, W. A., & Torp-Pedersen, S. (2017). Settings and artefacts relevant for doppler ultrasound in large vessel vasculitis. *Arthritis Research & Therapy*, 19(1), 1–10.
- Webb, B., Humphreys, D., & Heath, M. (2018). Oculomotor executive dysfunction during the early and later stages of sport-related concussion recovery. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 35(16), 1874–1881.
- Weiler, J., & Heath, M. (2014). Oculomotor task switching: alternating from a nonstandard to a standard response yields the unidirectional prosaccade switchcost. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 112(9), 2176–2184.
- Wenban-Smith, M. G., & Findlay, J. M. (1991). Express saccades: Is there a separate population in humans? *Experimental Brain Research*, 87(1), 218–222.
- Zhu, Y. S., Tarumi, T., Tseng, B. Y., Palmer, D. M., Levine, B. D., & Zhang, R. (2013). Cerebral vasomotor reactivity during hypo-and hypercapnia in sedentary elderly and Masters athletes. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism*, 33(8), 1190-1196.

Chapter 4

4 General Conclusion

In Chapter 2, I evaluated whether a 20 min bout of passive exercise (via motorized cycle ergometer) differentially influenced pre- and post-exercise antisaccade performance and CBF. Results showed that passive exercise increased CBF and produced a post-intervention reduction in antisaccade RTs – findings that are in line with the hemo-neural hypothesis (Moore & Cao, 2008). Accordingly, results from Chapter 2 demonstrate that postexercise improvements to EF can be obtained independent of active muscle recruitment.

In Chapter 3, I evaluated CBF and antisaccade performance concurrent with, and following, exposure to a 10 min 2.5% hypercapnic environment. Results demonstrated an increase in CBF concurrent with hypercapnic exposure; however, no reliable change in antisaccade performance was observed during, or immediately following the intervention. The absence of a behavioral effect during 2.5% hypercapnia is consistent with some literature reporting no reliable change in cognition during mild hypercapnia (Rodeheffer et al., 2018; Scully et al., 2019). However, the absence of a post-intervention EF improvement contrasts the findings reported in Chapter 2.

The inconsistencies between experiments may be credited to the distinct pathways in which the interventions (i.e., passive exercise, hypercapnia) modulate CBF (i.e., mechanically vs. chemically). As stated previously, hypercapnia influences CBF via the chemoreceptor reflex: a defence mechanism against cellular acidosis. Indeed, a hypercapnic environment induces a state of physiological distress, and is commonly accompanied by adverse symptoms (e.g., headaches, dyspnea, discomfort; see Totaro et al., 1997). This is a salient issue as experiment two did not include a measure of participant symptomology, which could have interfered with post-intervention EF results. In contrast, the mechanisms modulating CBF during passive exercise are in not in response to an acute physiological stressor, but rather locomotion, and therefore do not produce the adverse symptoms associated with hypercapnia. Moreover, the feedforward

central command mechanism contributing to CBF modulation during passive exercise has been shown to increase physiological and cognitive arousal (Matsukawa et al., 2012), which may have positively influenced the post-passive exercise EF results. Taken together, results from my thesis suggest that an increase in CBF is not the sole-mediating factor to a postexercise EF benefit.

4.1 Future Directions

There are several considerations that should be given to future research examining the interventions and outcomes outlined in this thesis.

A simple, but important one should be to match the duration of the intervention between studies. Indeed, a rationale as to why only the passive exercise intervention produced an EF benefit, despite comparable increase is CBF (i.e., 7cm/s), is that the duration of passive exercise intervention was twice that of the hypercapnia (i.e., 20 min compared to 10 min, respectively). Thus, the temporal persistence of an increase in CBF may have contributed to the differences in outcome between the two interventions. Another concern, discussed in the previous section, is the interference of hypercapnia induced symptoms. Indeed, previous research has demonstrated that hypercapnia induced symptoms (e.g., headaches, dyspnea) can occur with mild (i.e., > 2% CO₂) hypercapnia (Satish et al., 2012). Thus, due to potential confoundment of EF results, it would be important to have participants report their symptoms on a Likert scale concurrent with hypercapnic exposure. Lastly, future researcher should consider including a measure of cognitive arousal, as both passive exercise and hypercapnia have been shown to stimulate the parasympathetic nervous system (Morita et al., 1994; Gladewell & Coote, 2002), which has been shown to mediate cognitive arousal (Barber, et al., 2020).

Appendices

Appendix A: Health Science Research Board Approvals



Date: 23 February 2022

To: Dr. Matthew Heath

Project ID: 119678

Study Title: Cerebral hemodynamics and executive function changes in response to 2.5% CO2

Application Type: HSREB Initial Application

Review Type: Delegated

Meeting Date / Full Board Reporting Date: 15/Mar/2022

Date Approval Issued: 23/Feb/2022

REB Approval Expiry Date: 23/Feb/2023

Dear Dr. Matthew Heath

The Western University Health Science Research Ethics Board (HSREB) has reviewed and approved the above mentioned study as described in the WREM application form, as of the HSREB Initial Approval Date noted above. This research study is to be conducted by the investigator noted above. All other required institutional approvals and mandated training must also be obtained prior to the conduct of the study.

Documents Approved:

Document Name	Document Type	Document Date	Document Version
Recruitment Advertisement	Recruitment Materials	25/Jan/2022	1
Email Script	Email Script	25/Jan/2022	1
LOI	Written Consent/Assent	25/Jan/2022	1
Research Protocol	Protocol	17/Feb/2022	2
Flow Diagram	Flow Diagram	17/Feb/2022	2
ParQPlus2022	Online Survey	01/Nov/2021	1
GLTEQ	Online Survey	01/Jan/2022	1

Documents Acknowledged:

Document Name	Document Type	Document Date	Document Version
Citations	References	21/Aug/2021	1
2022_01_03Itemized Study Budget	Study budget	03/Jan/2022	1
O2_CO2 Analyzer Tool	Other Data Collection Instruments	17/Feb/2022	2
Executive Function Assessment Tool	Other Data Collection Instruments	17/Feb/2021	1
Blood Pressure Tool	Other Data Collection Instruments	17/Feb/2022	2
Heart Rate Tool	Other Data Collection Instruments	17/Feb/2022	2
NIRS Tool	Other Data Collection Instruments	17/Feb/2022	2
TCD Tool	Other Data Collection Instruments	17/Feb/2022	2

No deviations from, or changes to, the protocol or WREM application should be initiated without prior written approval of an appropriate amendment from Western HSREB, except when necessary to eliminate immediate hazard(s) to study participants or when the change(s) involves only administrative or logistical aspects of the trial.

REB members involved in the research project do not participate in the review, discussion or decision.

The Western University HSREB operates in compliance with, and is constituted in accordance with, the requirements of the TriCouncil Policy Statement: Ethical



Date: 8 October 2021

To: Dr. Matthew Heath

Project ID: 118422

Study Title: The hemodynamic and executive function responses to active and passive exercise

Application Type: HSREB Initial Application

Review Type: Full Board

Meeting Date: 10/Aug/2021

Date Approval Issued: 08/Oct/2021

REB Approval Expiry Date: 08/Oct/2022

Dear Dr. Matthew Heath

The Western University Health Science Research Ethics Board (HSREB) has reviewed and approved the above mentioned study as described in the WREM application form, as of the HSREB Initial Approval Date noted above. This research study is to be conducted by the investigator noted above. All other required institutional approvals and mandated training must also be obtained prior to the conduct of the study.

Documents Approved:

Document Name	Document Type	Document Date
GLTEQ (1)	Paper Survey	Received October 5, 2021
PARQPlus 2020 (1)	Paper Survey	Received October 5, 2021
NeuroBehavioural Lab COVID-19	Paper Survey	Received October 5, 2021
TCD Tool	Other Data Collection Instruments	Received October 5, 2021
NIRS Tool	Other Data Collection Instruments	Received October 5, 2021
Heart Rate Tool	Other Data Collection Instruments	Received October 5, 2021
O2_CO2 Analyzer Tool	Other Data Collection Instruments	Received October 5, 2021
Eye Tracking Tool (1)	Other Data Collection Instruments	Received October 5, 2021
Blood Pressure Tools	Other Data Collection Instruments	Received October 5, 2021
Recruitment Advertisement	Recruitment Materials	09/Jun/2021
Research Protocol	Protocol	09/Jun/2021
Email Script	Email Script	20/Aug/2021
LOI	Written Consent/Assent	07/Sep/2021

Documents Acknowledged:

Document Name	Document Type	Document Date
Itemized Study Budget	Study budget	03/Mar/2021

No deviations from, or changes to, the protocol or WREM application should be initiated without prior written approval of an appropriate amendment from Western HSREB, except when necessary to eliminate immediate hazard(s) to study participants or when the change(s) involves only administrative or logistical aspects of the trial.

REB members involved in the research project do not participate in the review, discussion or decision.

The Western University HSREB operates in compliance with, and is constituted in accordance with, the requirements of the TriCouncil Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans (TCPS 2); the International Conference on Harmonisation Good Clinical Practice Consolidated Guideline (ICH GCP); Part C,

Curriculum Vitae

Name:	Mustafa Shirzad
Post-secondary Education and Degrees:	The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada 2016-2020. B.A Kinesiology
	The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada 2020-2023 M.Sc. Candidate.
Related Work Experience	Teaching Assistant The University of Western Ontario 2020-2023

Publications:

Shirzad, M., Van Riesen, J., Behboodpour, N., & Heath, M. (2023). 10-min Exposure to a 2.5% Hypercapnic Environment Increases Cerebral Blood Blow but does not Impact Executive Function. Life Sciences in Space Research. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lssr.2023.07.003

Shirzad, M., Tari, B., Dalton, C., Van Riesen, J., Marsala, M. J., & Heath, M. (2022). Passive exercise increases cerebral blood flow velocity and supports a postexercise executive function benefit. Psychophysiology, e14132. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1111/psyp.14132

Tari, B., **Shirzad, M**., Badcock, N. A., Belfry, G. R., & Heath, M. (2021). 'Delaying' a saccade: Preparatory phase cortical hemodynamics evince the neural cost of response inhibition. Brain and Cognition, 154, 105808. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandc.2021.105808

Tari, B., **Shirzad, M**., Behboodpour, N., Belfry, G. R., & Heath, M. (2021). Exercise intensity-specific changes to cerebral blood velocity do not modulate a postexercise executive function benefit. Neuropsychologia, 161, 108018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2021.108018